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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER
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Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man

1 EEEX
Jiangxi Lee & Man

(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

\/ —
TmEX
(Jiujiang, 71.5T)

Guangdong Lee & Man
BRE X Y

(Hongmei, i 4§)

Dongguan Lee & Man
8 REEX

(Huangyong, % 5%)

PRODUCTS T

Kraft Linerboard H-IE A
. Test Linerboard D A T AR
Vietnam Le@%}l\éaj{n Coated Duplex Board 2B R
(Hau Giang, /5 5T) White Top Linerboard B T 41 4R
"_ High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLAB 5 4%
Pulp AN
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Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

TR SUES

Annual production 1.12 million tons of
capacity: paper
FERE - 1128 WA

Guangdong Lee & Man Paper i &
| 3 s x st 4 AT PR 2 B)

Annual production 2.30 million tons of
capacity: paper
: 2308 WEAR

Chongqing Lee & Man Paper
ERFENER

Planned annual 900,000 tons of paper

capacity: and 150,000 tons of pulp
FTEIFER 90 &8 ME 4K % 15 & Wi 4%

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
REEER

Annual production 590,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FERE 59 & M 4%

Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper

AR S

Annual production 320,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FERE 328 AR

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper

._:——;.f Re | L | '________.._-——
e . 1 = '". |
E - R _

Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS =

Executive director HITES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss Jp (Chairman) X Emxngs v+ (LE)
Mr Lee Man Bun wmH (Chief Executive Officer) =R Esens(HEHTE)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCELE

Mr Li King Wai Ross EX G-
Non-executive director FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gss s BRA BB e sn2s KTFH+
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman) FEEBELAE(FTE)
Independent non-executive director BUFHTES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4

Mr Chau Shing Yim David ERKEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) K (£ )

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies#t 4

Mr Yoshio Haga FERMEE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FEES

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BEAREE(FE)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4

Mr Kunihiko Kashima EEACERE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RELES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond &8s jp (Chairman,) kG mxngs xru+(LE)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima EEACERE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David BER S E

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR L AE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies#t 4
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES RERRK

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp EXEREEweTEs L Fat
Mr Cheung Kwok Keung SR B 98 ST A

COMPANY SECRETARY NEWE

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung o B 9% o A
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com

AR EE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O.Box 2681

Grand CaymanKY1-1111
Caymanlslands

B ERE
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NBEEE
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Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand CaymanKY1-1110
Cayman Islands
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/
EFERNER183
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue Owners of the Company Total Assets
WA NAEER AEGRF] EERE
HKS milion HKS million HKS million
BEET BEBT HEBIT
18,0001 16,970 2,000 1o 1,048 32,0001 31,195
1,833 11848
27,609
15,0001 1034716 28,0007 26,741
1,500 24,000 | 23,074
12,0001 11,099 11,424 1,351 4 304
20,000 19710
9,000 1,000 16,000
6,000 12,000
500 8,000
3,000
4,000
s ° ’
b & & >
\\Qr& \\"r& \\Y& rﬁ“@ 's"-"& Y&@ \r&@ £ \@Q\ '&@ %0\0 09\\ n,\% ‘LQ\W W,,/o"
O NIRS DRSS N & & o7 o7 of T NV
& & ST T 37 a7 87 7
Total Equity Sales Volume (containerboard)
ERBE HEZ (FBRRA)
HKS$ million ’000 Tons
ABEET THE
18,000 5,000 4,811
16,346 4,500
15,000 14,598 4000
13,498 el
357935003648
12,300 3,500
12,0001 3,160
10,151 3,000+
9,000 2,500
2,000
6,000
1,500
1,000
3,000
500
0 0
Q\Q Q\'\ 0\% Q\(L Y&@’ \’8<<4 \’23<<‘k @Q\ ‘&@
oV oV oV oV oY Q@\\ \0\\ \\ »{L ,19
N NS & A &

6
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Nine months
ended Year ended
EYIECE N 31 December

2012 2013
Year ended 31 March BZE BZE
BZ3A3MALEE 20124 20135
2010 2011 2012 PEEMENE 1283181k
20104 20114 20124 98 A FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr TR T TET
RESULTS E
Revenue A 11,099,263 14,034,285 14,715,553 11,423,998 16,970,365
Profit before tax BEARF 2,070,198 1,984,126 1,536,751 1,498,116 2,192,471
Income tax expense MERTH (236,893) (136,147) (185,302) (177,098) (244,268)
Profit for the year/period FE/BEEF 1,833,305 1,847,979 1,351,449 1,321,018 1,948,203
At 31 March At 31 December
W3A31H W12A31H
2010 2011 2012 2012 2013
20104 20114 20124 20124 20135
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr TEL T TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ EER &M
Total assets EERE 19,710,472 23,074,465 26,741,033 27,608,776 31,194,706
Total liabilities BEEE (9,559,626)  (10,774,652)  (13,242,820)  (13,010,586) | ((LELERN))

Net assets BESA 10,150,846 12,299,813 13,498,213 14,598,190 16,346,486

BGERER AR 2013 F£3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded a total
sales volume of 4.81 million tons of paper, a total revenue of
HK$16.97 billion, a full-year net profit of HK$1.95 billion, and a net
profit per ton of HK$400, maintaining an overall steady growth in

profit.

The production line of PM18 paper machine at Jiangxi industrial park
with annual capacity of 320,000 tons began operation in June last
year and has contributed positively to the Group’s profit. The
production line of PM20 at Chongging industrial park with an annual
capacity of 320,000 tons is expected to begin operation by June this
year and contribute further to the Group in the second half of the

year.

Given the buoyant development of the light industries in countries
such as Vietnam, Myanmar and Laos, the Group is also actively
investing overseas in the construction of paper factories to stay in line
with the expansion of the Southeast Asian markets. It is expected
that the paper machine project in Hau Giang, Vietnam will begin
operation in mid-2015.

In China, the market is seeing slackened growth with the possibility
of interest rate rise. The Group is ready for these challenges. Based
on its consistent adoption of prudent strategies, and with a
reasonable debt level, the Group will continue to increase its capacity
in existing industrial parks and develop new industrial parks in
tandem with the pace of economic development.

8 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFE®HE (&)

Of course, while pursuing capacity growth, the management of the
Group will also make strenuous efforts together to strictly control
costs and strengthen capital operations in order to maintain the
Group’s market competitiveness in the paper industry. As the
Chairman of the Company, | will ensure that the Group’s business
will continue to grow under the leadership of an experienced and
capable management team, with a view to further enhancing the
Group's profitability.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong
17 March 2014

EREERERERZAR  AREERE
EXEMERREN  BIERALERE
ARIFEE  RESEEERTRZTS
BEN AERAREZIE  AASHER
EERBLERNEEERTET @ £F
EBRFEER  BIE-—FTRALEHE
ZBEFIRET -

REEFS

FNE&
FE

a5
201453 /817H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2013 was HK$16,970 million and
HK$1,948 million respectively.

The Group maintained an overall profit growth and the sales volume
of the containerboard increased to 4.81 million tons for the year and
the average net profits per ton of the containerboard achieved at
about HK$400 for the year. The basic earnings per share for the year
was HK41.51 cents when compared with HK28.17 cents for the nine
months ended 31 December 2012.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$312 million for
the year ended 31 December 2013 as compared to HK$196 million
for the nine months ended 31 December 2012. It represented about
1.8% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2013 and was
slightly increased as compared to that of 1.7% for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group's general and administrative expenses was HK$622 million
for the year ended 31 December 2013 as compared to HK$464
million for the nine months ended 31 December 2012. It represented
about 3.7% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2013
and was decreased as compared to the nine months ended 31
December 2012.

TR LK e g
REXE

m=R

HE2013F12A31BIEFEMWRARAK
NEER N D5 A169.7018 7%
TTR19.481EH T o

AEBRFEERFER - FABRERA
HESWMELS1EN - AFESWEHER
B4R TR A B EL00E T - REENE
BERZHFAZ41.5180 - BZ=2012912
A3181E9E AR &28. 171l -

AEEHZ2013F12A31MBLEFEN
DEAEEEA A3 NRIEBT MAR
201212 A31H1E9E A B1.96 18 %
T e EE2013F12A318BIEFEA D
MEEBBERAL1.8%  BREE2012
F12A31HIEME A1 7% L -

HERITHEHR
AEBEEHZE2013F12A31HIEFED
HERTTHERBA622EE L MEZE
2012612 A31 B 1Ll A B 4.6418 %
T BiE2013F12A31HIEFEMNAE
RATREAERALZ 7%  BEHZE2012
F12A31BIEEA T ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs was HK$149 million for the year ended 31
December 2013 as compared to HK$70 million for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012. The average interest rate on bank
borrowings of the Group for the year was comparable to the nine
months ended 31 December 2012.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS” AND CREDITORS' TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 76 days and 11 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2013 as compared to 73 days and 18 days, respectively,
for the nine months ended 31 December 2012.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 56 days for the year ended
31 December 2013 as compared to 51 days for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012. This is in line with the credit terms of 45
days to 90 days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 64 days for the year ended
31 December 2013 as compared to 69 days for the nine months
ended 31 December 2012. The creditors’ turnover days were
expected to improve going forward given the Group’s higher

bargaining power in light of the industry consolidation.

1 7 A AR

HZE2013F 128318 ILFE » REEK
R AN A1.49E BT MREZE2012
F12A3181E9ME A RIR0. 70T - F
NEEHTFHRITEER REE E2012
F12A31HEE AR -

78 BURARENERRBEH

AEEREZ2013F12A31HLEFEN
BREEXKGTFERESH R AT76H &
118 MAREE2012€12A318 1L91@
AAI»RIA&738 %188 -

REBREZE2013F12831HIEFERN
FEWEREEH AS6H - MEIZE20124F
12A31B L9 ABIAS1A « lREARE
B4 FEFPASHEIOHMEEER -

AEEREZ2013F12A31HLEFEN
FEREZFEEH A648  MEZ20124F
12A31H1E9E A BIA69H - HRITHEE
AR AEBBEREHEERED Bt
TEHENEREASBIT 2 B RE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2013
was HK$16,346 million (2012: HK$14,598 million). As at 31
December 2013, the Group had current assets of HK$9,460 million
(2012: HK$8,108 million) and current liabilities of HK$8,909 million
(2012: HK$7,261 million). The current ratio was 1.06 as at 31
December 2013 as compared to 1.12 at 31 December 2012.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2013, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$10,959 million
(2012: HK$9,074 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2013, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$711 million (2012: HK$657 million). The
Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased from 0.58 as at
31 December 2012 to 0.63 as at 31 December 2013.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2013.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.

RBEE UBERRELERE

M2013F12H31H » AEENREE S
#BEER163.4618 8T (20124  145.98
BA7T) - R2013F12A31H ° AEEH
MENVE EEEI4.60E 8L (20124 : 81.08
BAT)  maEBaEAR89.09BE T
(20124 : 72,6118 IL) - M20134F12
A31B®MRELEER1.06 + MMR20124F
12A31881A1.12 ¢

REB—RUAATEENRERE - AR
PAERFEARBOTRENEEEAS
ER¥EBNEEES - R2013F12H31
H AEE/MREERITEKA109.59
BHEIT(20124F  90.74BETT) - % 5F
RITERBEARAE THBRRREEMNR
AIERIEAEA - K2013F128318 -
AEBBEAERTEHKEEAS7TVESET
(20124 : 6.57BB L) - NEBAFE
REEEE(BELEERBESRE2SE
PIB LARR R AER ) 2012912 A318K
0.58 F A% 2013F12H31HM0.63 °

AEEAEBRBRE LA HPAORITHE
RELNENAEENAEREEEST
2

AEENZXHGREEEETZET - A
R¥ - ZLKBLETE - #E2013F12
A31BLEFER  AEEMEENRBHE
R % EE R E E) il BT E AR ek
M2  AEBRAEBEEIE  INEE
B EMET - EINERBRE R ZA -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had a workforce of about 6,500
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhlE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2013, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2013. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.

TEEBER

RRARBNREBEEKEZLEER - XD
RIZEFEGREE  HAEBEERELEREK
RERRERNES  TE=LAEMNCES

AERREETAIRR - AARREEFER
—HEETERBARSMARAB([BR
Prl)eEs EmMRRI(T EmRA]) K14
PRz ERERFER TR TR -

AEBANEERBUIFRENESZER
B HEGRBETH AR RAIEEE -

ITFAERENEBERS  HHBUA
MEEYEE - EERATERARMEN
XET IFStEEEeeEEE IR
REFEGTREMLE  BRER A
MEFENEEENTRAENES -

TREAFRATENRGRES D - B
HARALTHERE BEFEATEAEREE
BE ZMAEAKENAERE -

BREES
=

REZECHERECEERMALSEEZ
2013F 12 A31REFE 236 H B R
xR zgsRAIRES - WEFWH
ZE - NEBEERMBEREEE -

EEZvESFERS

RATER2004FRAM EmRAIKMER10
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s jp (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Bun mH

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive directors:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive directors:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(%)

SEERRE

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed

before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES EE2ABEHRLE
Tttux% EeRLEE REANRD
N 2;%14%;%'% ERTRES T
R BFARREREAINGEITWER -
BHRTPHE®E  —ExERBEERAS
XHeERENc A EREAREXTEE
Z -BRNESILETERNAERBRNX

REERHM  HTHER -

ExehEFZ R e LEmEREE
BIREZWERT  MAEEFRHERED
Bl E =& XXM RAERE F FoE s 12
RWEH  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FA ECAREZEE
RIS

e REFHRER

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEng HEEE FRARH
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick ECE:S 4/5
(resigned on 1 June 2013) (72013F6 A1HET)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp BB EREEE KTt 9/9
Mr Lee Man Bun mH PXORFE e 9/9
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCELE 9/9
Mr Li King Wai Ross FIREESE 3/3
(appointed on 1 July 2013) (FR2013F7A1HEZ )
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas J EBRABB exi2E A TFHE 8/9
Mr Yoshio Haga FEEHLE 7/9
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FROR & & 9/9
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies%t & 8/9
Mr Chau Shing Yim David EER AL 9/9
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Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2013 is recorded in the table below.

BUFZTESHIRNEREIRERES
ERX -~ 2EEFEMR/ERGFZ AR
NHERZEFHARAZEBREENHE
EEZER - WD AMBRN EHHRA R
HEEERE T ZEERER -

EERRAEHERRUYFN AT NH R
BEARAIRARARHEL ERL - TRESIEE
ER2013FRBEYEE LM ARESE Y
A BERBECHESERRTEZ
L EREE -

Attending external
Reading regulatory seminars/
updates programmes

MREERE ZRINFHEEM

Name of director EEnS EHEN =T )

Executive directors HTES

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick @A v/ v/
(resigned on 1 June 2013) (R2013F6 A 18 EHT)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond &8s /P EX B Emrnes vt v v

Mr Lee Man Bun mH EQr L Tk 4 4

Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEACERAE v 4

Mr Li King Wai Ross FRERYE v v
(appointed on 1 July 2013) (R2013F 7R 1BEZRT)

Non-executive directors FHTES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBs Jp BRI PR 2 s 170t

Mr Yoshio Haga FEEERE

Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIREAE
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4
Mr Chau Shing Yim David [EES S 4:S
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SEERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current
members include:

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy

of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group'’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of inter
nal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectively
of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an
important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps

under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2013.

EREZES
EZZBEN2003F MY REKER
1

FEK T E(EE)

TR A

Peter A Daviesst 4

FEEHLE

EEERASERZTESNEHABEZ
KR BERZEQEPRESHEIE
B HEREHEE FRZEGIHERE
&ﬁ%ﬁétﬁﬁ%%&NMZﬁm°%
FETAMGEX R ETHA - HlEZEE
@%@&%EZ%%%EE%NQ&&H
28 BB KR - BiESEE 2B HH
RARBRER -

D \

mE

BERZB MRS AR AR B 285
ERLETRRZEMER - AEFEE
i RREENBRBREZ AR
g o %ﬁé%ﬁﬂﬁz%;%%@&’aﬁj%%ﬁm
ZEzEERR  EEBREGEANRFER
ENEEY i VALY e &

ERZRECBEEE R ANKEMRMRA
SEHRBIRAEH - I 2 B A ERER 1= KR BF

BERESEEETm  EPLEFME
1F20135F12A31HIEFERNESTERER -
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FA- - HAEBRZRERZEESE @ @5
RE®HFEBRFINNAT

Number of attendance

Name of member REHA HE IR E
Mr Chau Shing Yim David FAERK LA 3/3
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREE 3/3
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies Jt 4 3/3
Mr Yoshio Haga FEERMLEE 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMZBE =MW 2005F K BEKE R
current members include: &

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BERTE(EE)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Peter A Daviesst 4
BEALCELRSE

FHZEE2EMTRIRK28.1.2(0)
(i) MEEERAEEEERSRER
B2Hms BEBREREBELER - &
MEZESRRAMEESFIHEHAMWBEAZ
HEFTHERNSG ZHM - A7 EFREX -
FHEZEemBESRECDR201243A28
BH#EREES > TEFIEHRARFH/E
ﬁq °

HETRNTEFZMEE  HFHEZBE
DNEBEERAE  BRERAEHDKT &
EMERMZERRERE  SEAKHE
ISR RERBHBE M
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The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012.
During the year, nomination committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each director is set out below:

FMZEeEHREeNBETEZTZMER
RRAEHTESRETRAEREEZR
B FRAAREZE X FAKEHDEL

T EX

RELEEE
RBEEENR2012
N EEAHREEESSFH
ERETIMT -

F3H28HKY ° F
ZREEHE

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEgR HESE SR8
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick FEESTAE 1

(resigned on 1 June 2013) (R2013%6 A 1HEHT)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s J BB EmEEE A Tt 2/2
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEACERE 3/3
Mr Chau Shing Yim David IEESAE 3/3
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FTRORESE 3/3
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4 3/3

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

REZESTIEZAEERLRERABEAR
RREEZERE  TEETHRIES
SEK - RHFTRALZEESTZERE
FrlBEE2ZEREEAEIRNEZSIR
HHEBER  URFEBIIFRTESZ
B -

REZBECRIESZSHEMZIREE A
BRER  UREZEFEFEAART
EHERMGE R - BN &R -
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Board diversity

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2013. By way of example, the
Nomination Committee recommended the appointment of Mr Li
King Wai Ross on 1 July 2013 having regard to his academic
background and his experience in production management and in
technological research and development which spans over 10 years.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company'’s business model and specific needs.

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it
considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the
Company and the market from time to time.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr Lee Man Chun
Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun and Mr Li King Wai Ross, shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

E=3-4 k(e

FR - ARABBEEREESHERNZ T
EBR  ZBREREFSEZEURAAR
FREA - WAZTERBRKREERE
EAR - HE2013F12A31HIEFE -
RELZEGREFEESN T - K- &
BhESEALTE  BRIVAFERE
AEE MR WEREKREGEEEZEN
EE - BAME  REEZEEN20135F7
A1BEBZATEELE  NEEES
KELENHEESUARTELEEEBME
BB TEN TS FER -

ARRT2RELEENFR  MHH - X
ERBEESUNRBEELRETE - AR
ARBNEBRAN AT RFLAMCE
=M

ARBVRE » ZIAEBE

BE S S B[R] B
HAEER HRAEESUELERS

KFLEEAZHES - ARTHRER
EARRRNTETEHERER - EHR
BERENERRATINAE - IR
e LESHR

RIFABEIZMA - FXXEEE - Z30H
RERFREREBNERERRBEX
TLHESE  ENAERTREEEE
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the fee payable to the
Company'’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

SIS A% BB

REF2013F 12831 B IEEE - ftAR
RIREMB AR EIRENEZMIEEZR
TS 1A 2N X B SNEE A% SRR E A B9 B AR #7140
T

HK$'000
FET
Audit Service EZRTE 5,724
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FEEZRE(RIERBEE -
review and other reporting services) 2B 2 E A FR R AR TS) 601
6,325
INTERNAL CONTROLS A

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group's
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2013, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

EXermBEAEEZANEERSR
R EBYE  EFERNETERRE
EZNEEERGAMRERR MR R AS
BEE EFSCHEKATEEEERTE
ZEBBAEITREEE RS MR B A
MR - 28 - B RRERLERE R
WEE -

EENRE

ERFAAERESYBHEEERNLE
HRMAEEZFBRARRRZBEZ %
ERBRERECZER - EHRE#H 12013
F12A3MBEFEZERER  EXF2E
BHBABEZSTHEE BN ENES
W REEREBGER  (FHEE
RAEEMABRRTE  REFECEER
ITRE -EZTVEBERTFEEZGL
B - DARE G 12 ZEFE D B FR AR & B (] B (R
Z IR o

HREEXRRES

EEQHNEBTRTHERENRFEE
B BRI ARE 2 RIVEW R E2HE M
RETFER - BEXBR  BENMMBER
ETBRER - BERIAERAN R AR EER
BINEF
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The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
registered office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TrELAEEMT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and

energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group's advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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Water Consumption and Waste Water Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimise water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. More
importantly, by recycling wastewater in our production process, we
reduce significantly the water consumption.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of waste water and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.38 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.36 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in the next
five years. This level is substantially less than the national average of
0.60 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.

Emission Control

We focus on continuous reducing energy consumption that leads to
less coal consumption and less emission. All our coal-fired power
plants are installed with dust filtration and desulphurization
equipment and the discharge emission is always monitored on-line,
ensuring that the quality of emission meets the national regulatory
requirements. Moreover, we have set up the more effective Wet
Scrubbing desulphurization system in Guangdong and Jiangsu plants
which can further reduce sulphur dioxide emission to about 100mg/
m? which is well below the national standard of 400mg/m?>.
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HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and

growth.

Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man Paper is committed to providing employees
with pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe
that only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we
can, as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our

management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organising cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough time such as sicknesses and

accidents.

AN ERREE
BXERIEE  BIDARREENE

B BIW@EE REERRESEHNX
WE AR - BB —EFFEMN TIERE
ARE REE - ERNREEREER
Mo WS - REMFEHETE TR
RATR o BBRBORTHOABEIIEE R
TERBEEENAY - REHERILIE
FHEIWIEMBENEEETHRSZ @A
e ST ARBEEME - BHIE
B EAEENEERE —EXE -

BIEET

AEBETIANEREENERZ R - &
NEGR-BAERNREIRHEBENIIER
EREEMEE - RFIRERERY—E
HARENBEBE TR TEER  BRAKIHZ
B SEEEEHNEINERRERR
FRAEE -

SETEHRIANEER  EHERE K
LFwER - /B TIRHEFEMNLERR
B KRENEMERRFLEE  #E
ThRERBAE —EESENEBRER - £4
EEGERARER EETNEZRBB
AEAABINE  KRERINENESS
BERETEY EPMMARKBERE -

26 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organised a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidising staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man Paper’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility, consecutively
received government environmental protection awards and accolades,
gaining the recognition and endorsement from the community. To
demonstrate our past efforts in protecting the environment, all of our
existing plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Chongging have
been awarded the ISO14001 certification for environmental
management. Our plants in Hongmei and Huangyong were awarded
the GB/T23331-2009 certification for energy management system in
February 2013. In addition, our plants have also been granted the
ISO9001 certification for quality management and Chain of Custody
Certificate by Forest Stewardship Council (FSC-COC), it proved that
we have been committed to the exploration of mutual development
between paper making and protecting the forests. In November
2009, we were awarded the Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner
Production Partner (Manufacturing). Since 2009, the Group is
certified as the “Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China light
Industries” by China Paper Association for 4 years. The Group was
in 2011 and “National
Light Industry Information and Industrialization In-depth Integration

rated “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”

demonstration Enterprise” in 2012. Nowaday, our Hongmei, Jiangsu

and Huangyong plants have been accredited as High and New
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Technology Enterprises, Cleaner Production Enterprise, Harmonious
Labour Relations Enterprise in paper industry by the respective
province. Besides, Hongmei plant has been recognised by Guangdong
Province as Provincial-level Enterprise Technology Centre, it fully
embodies our investment in research and development and
technology. Hongmei plant has been awarded the honour of
“Guangdong Province Employer Responsibility Demonstration
Enterprise” and “Advanced Energy Conservation Unit” etc. Our
Chongging plant has been accredited as Ecological Improvement and
Environmental Protection, “Top 10 Strong Business Enterprises” and
“Top 10 Enterprise of Excellent Economic & Export Performance” by

Chonggqing City.

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu and Huangyong plants were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu and Huangyong have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and
that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EERENE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 43, CPPCC National Committee,
BBS JP, Chairman of the Company and founder of the Group, is in
charge of corporate planning and investment projects. Mr Lee has
over 20 years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. Mr Lee holds a Bachelor's Degree in Applied Science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is currently
involved in a number of public engagements and has been awarded
honorary citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of
Changshu. Mr Lee was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of
Hong Kong 2002 " and received an award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten
. In 2011, Mr Lee

was appointed as Vice President of China Paper Association. He is

Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”

appointed as Fifth President (January to December 2014) of Centum
Charitas Foundation. He is an independent non-executive director of
the listed company, Bossini International Holdings Limited. Mr Lee is
the brother of Mr Lee Man Bun, an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and is the brother-in-law of Mr Li

King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 33, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH, the Committee Member of
Social Welfare Advisory Committee and also the Advisory Committee
of The Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership
Programme, an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, acquisition of heavy production machines, quality
improvement, repair and maintenance of production machines and
factory staff management etc. Mr Lee holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of
British Columbia in Canada. He is the younger brother of Mr Lee
Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and an Executive Director of the
Company and is the brother-in-law of Mr Li King Wai Ross, an

Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 38, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper businesses as well as maintaining various levels of government
relationship in the PRC. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from
University of British Columbia in Canada. He has over 11 years of
experience in production management and in technological research
& development. He is the brother-in-law of Mr Lee Man Chun
Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive
Directors of the Company.

Mr Kashima Kunihiko, aged 54, an Executive Director of the
Company. He was the General Manager of corporate planning at
Nippon Paper Group Inc, (“Nippon Paper”, the shares of which are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange and
Nagoya Stock Exchange) and has over 30 years of experience in
corporate planning, human resources, and accounting and finance in
the paper industry. He has experience in various roles within Nippon
Paper, including corporate planning, human resources, and
accounting and finance. He has been involved in most major merger
and acquisition transactions and post merger restructuring projects
within the Nippon Paper, including the merger between Jujo Paper
Co Ltd and Sanyo Kokusaku Pulp Co Ltd, the merger between Jujo
Paper Co Ltd and Daishowa Paper Manufacturing Co Ltd, the
acquisition of Australian Paper by Nippon Paper and the business
collaboration with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 74, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He was
appointed a Non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received
the OBE in 1991, the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of
the Year Awards 2008 (Education)” and the Honorary Degree of
Doctor of Humanity from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2009. In addition Professor Poon was appointed as a member of the
Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an independent non-executive director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited, Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited, K.
Wah International Holdings Limited and Chevalier International
Holdings Limited; all of which are listed companies.

Mr Haga Yoshio, aged 64, Vice Chairman and a Non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 39 years of experience in the
paper industry and was the Chairman of the Japan Paper Association
between May 2008 and May 2010, and served again from May
2012. He is the President and the Chief Executive Officer of Nippon
Paper. He has spent the majority of his time in production
management, with experience in research and development, as well
as corporate planning. As the head of the corporate planning division
of Nippon Paper, he led the “Group Vision 2015" initiative in cost
reduction activities and large scale capital expenditure projects and
has focused on the business expansion of Nippon Paper both
domestically and overseas. The overseas expansion projects he has
led for Nippon Paper include the alliance with SCG Paper Public
Company Limited, the alliance with Yuen Foong Yu Paper Mfg, Co
Ltd, the acquisition of Australian Paper and the business collaboration
with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 71, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 71, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 43 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 50, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has over 20 years experience in
corporate finance, working on projects ranging from initial public
offering transactions and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-
border and domestic takeover transactions. Mr Chau was formerly a
partner of one the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong, holding
the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate
Advisory. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (“"ICAEW"),
and was granted the Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW, and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
and was an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of
HKICPA. Mr Chau is currently an independent non-executive director
of Up Energy Development Group Limited, Varitronix International
Limited, Man Wah Holdings Limited, Evergrande Real Estate Group
Limited and Richly Field China Development Limited. He has retired as
an executive director of Zhidao International (Holdings) Limited in
August 2013 and resigned as an independent non-executive director
of Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited in June
2013. All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 47, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 25 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited
and China Aoyuan Property Group Limited; both are listed
companies. He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr Yip Heong Kan, aged 43, is the Deputy General Manager of the
Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and Vietnam project. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 39, is the Administation Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science in Mechanical Engineering from University of
Toronto in Canada and has over 14 years of experience in IT
supervision and 6 years of senior management experience from
different multinational companies. He joined the Group in October
2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 54, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 31 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.

Ms Li Yuen Ling, aged 52, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man Group in 1984 and has over 29 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 50, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 27 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local
companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Ng Hok She Harry, aged 38, is the Quality Assurance Minister
of the Group, is responsible for the quality of paper production. Mr.
Ng holds a Bachelor’'s Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 12
years of experience in engineering safety aspects management. He
joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 45, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr Chan has over 25 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr Chu Kwok Lung, aged 51, is the Administration Manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Dongguan Lee & Man Paper and has over 29
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr Chung Wai Fu, aged 49, is the Administration Manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Jiangsu plant operation and
management. Mr Chung holds a bachelor degree of production and
logistics management and a master degree of business administration
in human resources management from the University of Southern
Queensland respectively. He has over 20 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr Chung joined the Group since November 2008.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 45, is the Sales Manager of the Group, is
responsible for sales and marketing. She holds a Higher Certificate in
Marketing and Sales Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and has over 24 years of experience in sales and marketing.
She joined the Group in March 1996.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in

note 36 and 18 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 47.

An interim dividend of HK7.3 cents per share amounting to
HK$342,814,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during
the year. The directors of the Company now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK7.3 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2013 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 30 May 2014, amounting to approximately
HK$342,814,000 in aggregate, subject to the approval of the

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 7 of the

annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$2,243 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
details of which are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. The directors considered that, as the Company's ordinary
shares were trading at a discount to the net asset value per share,
the repurchases would increase the net asset value per share of the
Company. None of the Company's subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's shares during the year.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
(resigned as director and chairman on 1 June 2013)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss jp (Chairman)
(appointed as chairman on 1 June 2013)

Mr Lee Man Bun, mH (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as chief executive officer on 1 June 2013)

Mr Kunihiko Kashima
Mr Li King Wai Ross
(appointed on 1 July 2013)

Non-executive directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gas jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, Mr Lee
Man Chun Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun, and Mr Li King Wai Ross

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun, Mr Kunihiko Kashima,
Mr Yoshio Haga have entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 June
2013, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months' prior written notice.

Mr Li King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing on 1 July
2013, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months' prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive directors and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his
retirement as required by the Company's Articles of Association.

FR AL
MR F

BB A T A S RMA -
2 XOR % 4 BB K A ISR AT
ABERL B RIEE -

$$<1£%5E$ CEXBEE  BBALER

RFEBEEBEXEBRRARBTLRBEE
,%’\7 - FHIFR2013F6 A1 B RE - ¥ A
H=F WE—EFE EEAA—HM
S—HBEL-R@AEMEEMAMTUAKIE
Bl e

FRBEECEANRATLRBEEH
FHIR2013F7 A1 BT NP AH=
F e EFE BEEEN—FRAS—
FREHN-ZEAENEABANTURLES
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO*), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) were as
follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

EERTBTBAERRANE
BRETHEENEZER AR

M2013F12A831H  EEREZBITHA
BREEZBREANTTEARR REAEH
Eafkt HEARNDRESF  #BEAX
RARBEEFARPEGRA(TESFRBPE
B 1) %3527 B 2 B M Frac g 2 1
@ HREBLEMETAZEZETESLRRS
WIZEEFRIEHNEARAAFREBHERS
FrERAR ([BERATBERNT ¢

wR

RATEFIO0.02578 T2 Ei@mk

Percentage of

the issued

share capital of

Number of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {EERQTE#IT
Esns &4 EBEREE BRAEBED
Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 40,000,000 0.85%
Fi& EnEAA
Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 29,450,000 0.63%
F30R, EnEBA
Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 286,000 0.01%
BT EnEAA
Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 500,000 0.01%
FRGE EnlAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2013.

Br EXCRTiEEE &SN - 2013412 A 31
H SEF FETBHRABRESHHE
A TR AT AR R R) S E A ] AR EE A B A AR
- AEERNKEST - A E(TRERSK

"

o

mmp
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note

29 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share

option scheme during the year:

B R
EN/NETE i = - A == B
FMIFE29 -

TREBACABEREFSRFALE
B -

Number of
shares in the

Company to be
issued upon
exercise of the
share options
REREE
TRERETRITH
Exercise ARABRBHE
price Outstanding
per share Outstanding Exercised  at 31 December
Dateof BRITHEE Exercisable at beginning during 2013
Name grant HK$ period of the year the year 2013%12A31H
#E RHBH BT T8 FENERITE ERTE fef R AT
Directors
Bz
Lee Man Chun Raymond 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010t0 31.8.2013 40,000,000 (40,000,000) —
FX& 1.9.2010%31.8.2013
Lee Man Bun 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010t0 31.8.2013 26,666,668 (26,666,668) —
FIR 1.9.2010%31.8.2013
66,666,668 (66,666,668) —

The closing prices of the Company's shares on the dates of grant of

5 September 2008 was HK$1.67.

HR2008F9ASHK L BEE B ALQR K
MZWHEAEI.67HETT -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2013, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in

the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

BREXTRBBE]—HAEREEN A2
A HERAKR - HEERAK B AR KA
AMfB AN EARTARERES RIS
EARY BREEAEBALRA L
AEMEAEE 2RO HER(BEER
&) M o

FERR

BIEARBIREHF BRI E336152
GEZXERRELMATELEE - #2013
F12A318 - TIRR(ZEERFETH
ABBRINBERNEEARRABRERAQAE
BITIRAR S 2 il -

wR

RABER0.0258 T2 B

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BEORT HARATSRIT
MREREE 3 ZERHAE RAF L
Gold Best Holdings Ltd Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 54.02%
EmEAA
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation
(note i) 2,536,710,000 54.02%
iR MDA A (MEh)
Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 2,536,710,000 54.02%
FEEIR A A (Ei)
Nippon Paper Group Inc Held by controlled corporation 718,515,679 15.30%
ARSI E (note iii)
SRR HEE R A (B aEii)
Dyna Wave Holding Asia Beneficial owner (note iii) 718,515,679 15.30%

ket 2o NG E Al
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%ﬁiﬁi (AE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (conmivueD)

notes:
(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd ("Gold Best") is wholly owned by Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

(ii) Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these
2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
beneficial owner of Gold Best.

(iii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia is wholly owned by Nippon Paper Group Inc.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2013.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all
of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the
Stock Exchange.

FERR#E)

B 5E -

(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd ([ Gold Best | ) F1 & i&
BEEWEA °

(i) WEFBHFERAEEH BRFTEEBERTER

(GoldBestE = A A) M - BHWIR B
H#%2,536,710,0000% @A RO4E RS -

(iii)  DynaWave Holding Asia B B AR K EFH 2 &
A -

Br Pl B EE BN - KRR EEMNZ RN
2013F 12 A31B AR A &5 A8 B A% 1
ZAEEMAEERKER

ZEBUFATES

B FES LR LRI S
313243l - {j?‘ﬁj#%ﬂﬁ%$aﬁ
AAREREFE 2B AR
Fﬁﬁ?@i#%ﬂﬁ%%fa@%ﬁj}\i °

BREXRS
RIEETRAIE 1443815 EEE R
ARAEBEM  KREAGADAGH

MBS EFEEFERE300058 T2 3
ERKEHNBAMBERZEZTIIEIR
E o WRREKHBPEILIORERED
EHARRET B ER S M A K
HIRAEENBEREIZIIEL RS -

RIELTRA ZBEEHAEENRE
REXZMENESERLER  BHE

BHRHEREBEEMNKE - BUIFNTES
EEHNFEREX I MBI ERE S
R - YEERARBEMETRERE
RBEDBEBER—BREBTIREEEBHEK
T KRB TERAXBBLE=T
BT 2IRFTET BEREBEZERHZ
AR - DB RAFEERESEARFR
RERN e - K88 HEE X2 P it E 8948
B LRRE % -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers were approximately 69% of the Group's total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier were approximately 28% of the Group's total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 5% of the Group's total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2013.

BERS (%)

AEENATREZBEIZFIBRANE
BN S -

B EXFmBEEN  UEEMZHAR
MARMNREATHERBERS -

EENEREGHP &R

BRIBER S | —HiEREES - ARF]
HERAR - MEARXFZRME AR
BIVRNFEERFRAEAKEHERDAL
M BARBERERREERERETES
BEARNENEAREGL -

ITEEFRHED

FR - AEERREEEGAEEBIRE
R#69% @ MASEZAHEEAMEARE
B /BIREEEL28% ©

FA AERELAEFPHNAHERELAS
EBHEBEDN5% °

METMNES RENBBALRIEM
(MEBERA)EEARARBEEITHRAS%
VA b7 BRI bt 7N 62 8] T oK £ 7 A0 B
AP EEEM R

BEHZATIFRE

BARNB USSR Z ARERFI RN E
ERTAE  ARARIREZE2013F12 A31
AEFEEFERNERIBFZHRARERSE -

BGERER AR 2013 F£3R 43



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company's directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$2,430,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 March 2014

BB IRE

ARBZABERAALFSHSENN
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WIS PIAR AR EERMB -

R
AEERBETRR  EREMSERE
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% BERRENERE -

ARAEFZHWNEECEREEXNT
TEEIE -

B

FA - ARIHEHNEZREMBREHR
2,430,000/ 7 °
B

ARBEERBERBFRE LIRERFER -
BRI E o BAEIRTT QETANTT AL BIAD -

REEFS

FX&

e

BB

201443 H17H

44 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 154,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

BENERERAARRE

(RESHSTMA B ERLF])

TIZERITE BN N EATEE 1548
WZBXGEEBRAR(TERR]) REW
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2013
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & Z2013F 12431 H IFFJE

Year ended
31 December
2013
B ZE2013F
12A31H1LE
FE
NOTES HK$'000
P s FET
Revenue WA 6 16,970,365
Cost of sales SHE KR (14,084,063)
Gross profit EH 2,886,302
Other income E U A 7 380,427
Net gain from fair value changes of MESRITANAREEH
derivative financial instruments T 8,210
Share of profit (loss) of a joint venture  FE{E & & EZF (EE) 18 460
Distribution and selling expenses DEREEER (312,474)
General and administrative expenses BERITHER (PARTE))
Finance costs B TSR AR 8 (148,881)
Profit before tax [ 7 Bl 22 ) 2,192,471
Income tax expense FNEHRTH 9 (244,268)
Profit for the year/period FE/HRER 10 1,948,203
Other comprehensive income, Hith2EKzE -REER
net of tax, that may be HETWREHFIEE
reclassified to profit or loss: B

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

BEBIRBEECELEZE

562,758

2,510,961

1,948,203

2,510,961

HK cents
AL

Total comprehensive income for EE /HREADE RS
the year/period

Profit for the year/period EIEFE/BRNERT
attributable to:
Owners of the company ZIN/NECTE RSN

Total comprehensive income FEG BRI
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE7F =N

Earnings per share GREF 14
— Basic =N
- Diluted -#E

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]

Nine months
ended
31 December
2012
HE20124
12A31H1E
o9&l A
HK$’000
FHET
11,423,998
(9,473,295)

1,950,703
274,374

3,631
(263)
(196,187)
(464,047)
(70,095)

1,498,116
(177,098)

1,321,018

257,300

1,578,318
1,321,018

1,578,318

HK cents
il

28.17

27.98
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2013 K2013F 12 H31H

NOTES
BaE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB M 15
Prepaid lease payments FENHEERIE 16
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEDE BEX

property, plant and equipment AR Ko - {55 P A

and land use rights Fridsl & 17
Interest in a joint venture G ERER 18
Loan to a joint venture AEDEER 18
Tax recoverable A Y B 718 9
Retirement benefit assets RKEMNEE 27
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 19
Prepaid lease payments TERHEERE 16
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 R H A BR K 20
Amounts due from related companies  fEUS B:E A B 3RIE 21
Derivative financial instruments MEEHBIE 25
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR LIRS 22
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 Kk H M ARK 23
Amounts due to related companies FES BN B FRIE 21
Amount due to a substantial shareholder & * E A% 5 7K 1B 21
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA 25
Tax payable e T IE
Bank borrowings RITEE 24
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES B EABRAB AR
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2013
20134
HK$ 000
FExT

20,829,960
598,929

160,542
1,860
83,890
59,300

PAWEL XY

3,122,711
13,127
5,582,178
18,965
12,733
710,511

9,460,225

3,165,262
12,306
5,642

64,555
5,661,276

8,909,041

551,184

22,285,665

2012
20124
HK$'000
FAT

18,790,213
547,912

44,761
264
64,390
52,670
1,066

19,501,276

2,879,733
12,376
4,534,700
18,501
5,084
657,106

8,107,500

3,309,327
143

6,378

561
79,987
3,864,506

7,260,902

846,598

20,347,874



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2013 K2013F 12 H31H

2013
20134
NOTES HK$’000
MIsE FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kERBERE
Bank borrowings RITIEE 24 5,297,833
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBAE 26 641,346
5,939,179
16,346,486

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital A% A 28 117,402
Reserves & 16,229,084

16,346,486

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 154 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17
March 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Man Chun Raymond ZX &

Chairman % &

FATEF 154 B FTEMERE

2012
20124
HK$'000
FAT

5,209,001
540,683

5,749,684

14,598,190

117,241
14,480,949

14,598,190

MBRERER

2014F 3R 17THEEST SR AERKET

ToAWHTIEEFRRESE

Lee Man Bun Z 3R
Director #%F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=
e

N Z —
/\%E:%

I Az

ER2EX

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & Z2013F 12431 H IFF/E

Share
Share Share options  Translation Capital Legal Special Other Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve  contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
BE  RORE BRERE | EXGE  ECER  AENEE  KARE  HeRE  SRBR EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn ThR ThL TEn FiEn TiEn TiEn ThT T
(note i) (note il (note iii) (note v)
(B3 (GiED) (P i) (GED)
At 1 April 2012 WZE-—#NA-H 17,241 4,624,592 35,450 1817452 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 6,905,888 13,498,213
Other comprehensive income BREM2ENE
for the period — - - 257,300 — — — - - 257,300
Profit for the period HRAF - - - — — — - — 1321018 1,321,018
Total comprehensive income Bha2EYNs
for the period — — — 257,300 — — — — 1,321,018 1,578,318
Dividends recognised as BARARLIRE
distributions (note 13) Kiz13) - — — — — — — — (478,341) (478,341)
At 31 December 2012 RoE-2F
+-F=+-H 17,241 4,624,592 35450 2,074,752 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 7,748565 14,598,190
Other comprehensive income EREMZENR
for the year — - - 562,758 — — — - - 562,758
Profit for the year EERF - - - - — — - —  1,948203 1,948,203
Total comprehensive income EREEENR
for the year — — — 562,758 — — — — 1,948,203 2,510,961

Shares repurchased and cancelled B8 23T 358k (7 (1505 (307,763) — - - - - - - (309,268)

Exercise of share options T 1,666 158,583 (35,450) — — — — — — 124,799

Dividends recognised as

distributions (note 13) — — — — — — — — (578,196) (578,196)

At 31 December 2013

117,402 4475412 — 2,637,510 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 9,118572 16,346,486
notes: BfsE

(i) The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period (i) B EB IR HARAAEESREERAR—
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group's ultimate holding company. R EWBABIHEMBRRME -

(if) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the (i)  RIERFIREEBAIE - A D FALFIRPT )M
Company's subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of BRARSERFERE D IRE - EEETD
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the REFMA25% W BIEREZEREE  ER
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The AECENBRARKRAN—F AL ZERE
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. S TEDIRTRER ©

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the  (iii) 4RI EERIEAE®EMN2003F9A AEAI
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BRRGSOMBEARNRAEERAEERDFH
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the W EEMBITOROMENERE -
Company's shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv)  In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each  (iv) R 20084108 * AEE AWK E R 7 2 3F
of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate ERBERRUEZMERE QAR SHT10%K
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities @ ARER3SET c IKEABFEZERER
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to SHEBHANREBZANBZEBEEERE
equity. Rk o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & Z2013F 12431 H IFFJE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year/period
Adjustments for:

Income tax

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Finance costs
Interest income

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net gain from fair value changes of derivative

financial instruments

Return on retirement benefit plan assets
Share of (profit) loss of a joint venture
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables

REXK

FE/HABN

BRE

M55

ANEESA#E

nE - BEERBZNE
R

FSBA

HENE  BEIRBEEBR

TEEBTAAAEESF WS

RN GBI B E R R
FBEAZLE(BF)ER
Y E 5 TR ERE

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital
(Increase) decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in amounts due from related companies
Increase in amounts due to related companies
Decrease in amount due to a substantial shareholder
Decrease in trade and other payables

Decrease in derivative financial instruments

Fal

ZHERE

FEOEM) D

FEAE 5 K E b B (3 o) s
AR B E DR FIER L

JE TR X AR E N

FEA E B R SR

FEAE 5 K E b BRSO A
TESRIARD

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid
Purchase of tax reserve certificates

REXBELNR S
ERHE
ENPECEREHR
BERENS

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REXBFEREFH

Year ended
31 December
2013
HZ2013F
1283181k
FE
HK$'000
THET

1,948,203

244,268
11,258
668,344
148,881
(10,289)
5,475

(8,210)

(39)
(460)
10,076

3,017,507
(182,431)
(942,020)

7

PALY)
(898)
(167,220)

(1,737,104)
(296,357)
(161,727)

(6,630)

1,272,390

Nine months
ended

31 December
2012
HE2012F
12A3181F
ofEl A
HK$'000
TET

1,321,018

177,098
7,926
463,453
70,095
(11,774)
1177

(3,631)
(78)
263

2,025,547
270,230
746,062

1,273
143
(1,343)
(409,932)
(9,459)

2,622,521
(179,898)
(96,970)
(13,000)

2,332,653
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & Z2013F 12431 H IFFJE

Year ended
31 December
2013
HZ2013F
1283181k
FE

HK$'000
THET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of prepaid lease payments

Loan to a joint venture

Interest received

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from termination of retirement
benefit plan

Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits

REED

BENE  BERR
BERNEENA
RELEER

B8

HENRE - BERREMEFR

(2,271,986)
(49,959)
(19,500)

10,289

1,695
®IERRAR M BIPT S R
1,105
SR BISRIT 17 AR -

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBIARESFE (2,328,356)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Dividends paid 2R E (578,196)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERTEE (15,738,589)
New bank borrowings raised HEERITEE 17,595,480
Proceeds from issue of shares in connection 1T B R A T B2 TR 1D P 1B 3R

with exercise of share options 124,799
Payment on repurchase of shares XA R AR (309,268)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING REZBHAE (AR RLFE

ACTIVITIES

1,094,226

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ReRBEEEWFRMOAD)
38,260

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FE/HAzRERREZEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR/PERIOD 657,106
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EXEH2FE 15,145
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS E/HMACBERBSSEY

AT THE END OF THE YEAR/PERIOD,

represented by bank balances and cash RITHEBRE 710,511
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Nine months
ended
31 December
2012
HE2012F
12A3181F
ofEl A
HK$'000
TET
(1,562,992)
(56,408)

(54,990)
11,774

1,619

984

(1,660,013)

(243,860)
(10,145,219)
9,635,187

(753,892)

(81,252)

731,498
6,860

657,106
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013 & ZE2013F 127318 It FJE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr Lee Wan Keung
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures

are set out in notes 36 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

— AR

RAmZEMAERRAR - 120035
SH21EREMSFS R RIA(2013
FEIR)AHAEFHEN I RERD
RERRBRAF - ROILNEE
BARSEBERAR (B £
e Ra R&E&IER AR ZGold
Best Holdings Ltd ([ Gold Best ) -
R—HEREBEXZBESEMAZA
FLAZRR] ° Gold Best,Z fx S8 42 A% %
REFTEREE - AR EfisE
BREHER IR ARFERA A
BERAEE -
Apalg—EREERRAA - X
EMBARREEENETEEY
DRIEN I B wME M FT36K%18 ©

HEMBmRABT(TIET]) I
R RARBZNERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

2.

54

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In 2012, the financial year end date of the Company and the
Group had been changed from 31 March to 31 December to
align with the financial year end dates of the Company’s
subsidiaries that were established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") which are required under the relevant PRC
laws to close their accounts annually on 31 December.
Accordingly, the current year covers the twelve-month period
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 (the “Current
Year"). The corresponding comparative amounts shown for the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes
cover the nine-month period from 1 April 2012 to 31
December 2012 and therefore may not be comparable with
the amounts shown for the Current Year.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial

Assets and Financial Liabilities

2.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI REBT 2&ERM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Consolidated Financial Statements, AT H®RE REBEmE
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 Joint Arrangements and AERIZE 1058 HEZHE R =
Disclosure of Interests in Other EBH KRS REME
Entities: Transition Guidance ERIENH R = BEEES
BERRBRE
AERIE12%
(BET )
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements EBTERE BAEMERE
ZHIFE105%
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements BV BHRE HRZH
ZRHIE115R
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other EATERE HENEMEEN
Entities ERIZE125 i g
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement BB BRE DREFHE
ZHIFE135%
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits B ER EERAH
£195% (12011
FBET)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements BB g £ B B IS IRER
F275 (72011
FREFT)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint BB eER REBERNANAEE
Ventures F285 (2011 EMKE
FiBET)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other BB ER Hih2EW=IBEE
Comprehensive Income 15 (BRI AR) #2351
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production 75 (BB 7% BARESEERER
Phase of a Surface Mine HEREZE ZHIBRR AR
g)—RE
F205
Except as described below, the application of the new and BT SCRTiAN - RER BRG] R

revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current year and prior period and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

BHREZN([EBYHRSE

8 1) %)

RETBEVBRELEANEAEE
RAFERBEMBOMBERIR R
AR ERZELEE T BRE
MNELBMEATE -

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]
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56

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised Standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures comprising HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, HKFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, HKAS 27 (as revised in
2011) Separate Financial Statements and HKAS 28 (as revised
in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, together
with the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
regarding transitional guidance.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) is not applicable to the Group as
it deals only with separate financial statements.

The adoption of HKFRS 10 is not applicable to the Group
because the Group does not have non-wholly owned subsidiary

in both current and previous reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

The impact of the application of these standards is set out
below.

3.

FERFTR] RAEIERT 2 BB Y
BHRELR([EBYHRE
8 1) %)

FERUL SEANZEHIIMT -

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11 EREBMBHMEEANE11H2
g8

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, and the
guidance contained in a related interpretation, HK(SIC) — Int 13
Joint Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers, has been incorporated in HKAS 28 (as revised in
2011). HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control should be classified and
accounted for. Under HKFRS 11, there are only two types of
joint arrangements — joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification of joint arrangements under HKFRS 11 is
determined based on the rights and obligations of parties to
the joint arrangements by considering the structure, the legal
form of the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the
parties to the arrangement, and, when relevant, other facts
and circumstances. A joint operation is a joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
(i.e. joint operators) have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is
a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement (i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Previously, HKAS 31 had three types
of joint arrangements — joint controlled entities, jointly
controlled operations and jointly controlled assets. The
classification of joint arrangements under HKAS 31 was
primarily determined based on the legal form of the
arrangement (e.g. a joint arrangement that was established
through a separate entity was classified as a joint controlled

entities).

BREMBHREERNENREKLEE
SR EFENR/IRAELLENE

@/ REERENIES - AR

(FR2RBLRES) 2BFE 1357/ H#
FZEHER -—BLEEXENFEE
HRA] BEREFTEGTERE28
5 (R2011FERT) A - BAEMB
BEENFENRTHAMELNA L
EEEE K FEH KRB E
mEDBEAR - REFEFBR
SENFENG  ARTHEREER
ME-RLEXBRAELE - RE
BEMBHREERNE NS - HAR
D BABRTE T RNZERH
THREMNEEIMEE H AEEH
EE RERBRORELA - &5
RZFERBET HE R A KRR AR
FHHEMEENIRE B2XKBE
—RBARZHE - BUHRAESZE
BB (AEREE ) BEZLY
BERNEEREBERME -A%D
ER-BARLY - B KREES
REFNER(RELEE)EEZX
LHEFEE - WERBEES
ERE3H > ARLHD /=M
Bl — HRZEHEE  HREZESEB
NARZEHEE - REFEGHE
AIZE315E - KARHNOBEITER
FRERFHEERLA(PIER—
38 32 & 88 i 72 A 19 2 R 22 BE 7 1
DERAREHERE)
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58

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11 (Continued)

The initial and subsequent accounting of joint ventures and
joint operations are different. Investments in joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method (proportionate
consolidation is no longer allowed). Investments in joint
operations are accounted for such that each joint operator
recognises its assets (including its share of any assets jointly
held), its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly), its revenue (including its share of revenue from the sale
of the output by the joint operation) and its expenses (including
its share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator
accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as revenues and
expenses, relating to its interest in the joint operation in

accordance with the applicable standards.

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the
classification of the Group's investments in the joint
arrangements in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS
11. The directors concluded that the Group’s investment in
Southern Hill Company Limited (“Southern Hill”), which was
classified as a jointly control entity under HKAS 31 and was
accounted for using the equity method, should be classified as
a joint venture under HKFRS 11 and continue to be accounted
for using the equity method. The adoption of HKFRS 11 has
therefore had no material effect on the amounts reported in

the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 12

HKFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general,
the application of HKFRS 12 has resulted in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see

note 18 for details).

HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”

The Group has applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance
for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; the fair value
measurement requirements of HKFRS 13 apply to both financial
instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which
other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and
disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable
value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use
for impairment assessment purposes).

3.

FERFTR] RAEIERT 2 BB Y
BHRELR([EBYHRE
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60

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” (Continued)

HKFRS 13 defines the fair value of an asset as the price that
would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability,
in the case of determining the fair value of a liability) in an
orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions. Fair value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Also, HKFRS 13 includes extensive
disclosure requirements.

HKFRS 13 requires prospective application. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of HKFRS 13, the Group has not
made any new disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the 2012
comparative period (please see note 31 (iii) for the 2013
disclosures). Other than the additional disclosures, the
application of HKFRS 13 has not had any material impact on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures
— Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
retrospectively for the first time in the current year. The

amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information
about:

a) recognised financial instruments that are set off in
accordance with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation; and

b)  recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similar
agreement, irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with HKAS 32.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 have been applied retrospectively.
The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the amounts reported in the Group's consolidated financial
statements but has resulted in more disclosures relating to the
Group's offsetting arrangements and master netting
agreements. Detailed disclosures are set out in Note 31.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011
Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle include
a number of amendments to various HKFRSs. The amendments
are effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1
January 2013. Amendments to HKFRSs include the
amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and
the amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-by
equipment and servicing equipment should be classified as
property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition
of property, plant and equipment in HKAS 16 and as inventory
otherwise. The directors do not anticipate that the application
of the amendments may have a material effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax on
distributions to holders of an equity instrument and transaction
costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The directors
anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 32 will have no effect
on the Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group
has already adopted this treatment.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1
Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. Upon
the adoption of the amendments to HKAS 1, the Group’s
‘statement of comprehensive income’ is renamed as the
‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’.
Furthermore, the amendments to HKAS 1 require additional
disclosures to be made in the other comprehensive income
section such that items of other comprehensive income are
grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same
basis — the amendments do not change the option to present
items of other comprehensive income either before tax or net
of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively, and
hence the presentation of items of other comprehensive
income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than
the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of
the amendments to HKAS 1 does not result in any impact on
profit or loss, other comprehensive income and total

comprehensive income.

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits (as revised in 2011)

In the current year, the Group has applied HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits (as revised in 2011) and the related consequential
amendments for the first time.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits (as revised in 2011)
(Continued)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) changes the accounting for
defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most
significant change relates to the accounting for changes in
defined benefit obligations and plan assets. The amendments
require the recognition of changes in defined benefit
obligations and in the fair value of plan assets when they occur,
and hence eliminate the ‘corridor approach’ permitted under
the previous version of HKAS 19 and accelerate the recognition
of past service costs. All actuarial gains and losses are
recognised immediately through other comprehensive income
in order for the net pension asset or liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position to reflect the full
value of the plan deficit or surplus. Furthermore, the interest
cost and expected return on plan assets used in the previous
version of HKAS 19 are replaced with a 'net interest’ amount
under HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011), which is calculated by
applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or
asset.

The application of HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) has not had
any material impact on the amounts recognised in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in prior years and on the

presentation as the amounts involved are not significant.

3.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 36
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI REBT 2&ERM

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BREER([EERBERS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED) 28 1) &)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet & A8 45 1B 8 R A R FT AT R A 1E
effective (Continued) IR B ISREER(F)
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and EEGER TTHETEEER
Continuation of Hedge B3R (BEIAR)  HHEEHIEM
Accounting’ SN

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies' BE(BRME  HE

WMERBZE

g)-2E

F215%
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 1 M2014F 1 A1 2 B FRIRZ FEH

P AE AR ©
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with earlier 2 M20145 7R 1Bz BMm 2 FEH
application permitted. FERARFFIREER -
3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be 3 A ER — Hog bl £ H AR B AN
determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised. BMERNFEICHRTREEERET -
4 Effective for period beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 4 M201457 1Bz & MIBZ B4
o

The directors of the Company anticipated that the application RNARESTEHER LI RE
of the above new and revised HKFRSs will have no material BERBUBRELNEEETH
impact on the consolidated financial statements. WMERWMERNTE -
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66

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in

the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statement is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the

Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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68

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report

FESEEER )

RERBEESE)

i BB RGN BT Ll = TR %
TETW-—HLAZHETERE - A
AEEEEHFGHERTHEBRE
BT RERIHE -

ERARERBERENZEERIR
RZH MEREERAEEERA

BEIEERERKRET ZHBE
B M ARIERIRIRET - A%
BEE—HBEERBRAFGER
SERBERETZRERRES EH
BEFIE EP8E -

s ARERAREHBEMAYE
IR EREAMFENEE &
ZaRiil

o AEEH HUREFAALHE
METHE 2 BEREE

HMEMENLTHMEE ZE
hi Rk

s EMBEHNFERBRELAE
BRORITALINBEED
REREEEREBEERY - 2%
BERREZZIRETA

REWBRRKRENAKERSEGY
B ARERIERFSG  WRAS
Bk X B BN A R AL -
LER  FAMKRBILEMER
AR - BASERGE#ZZ
R EEZAEEIABHEMNBAR
AEGIEZ AL - IIALZRERRER
Hh 2 ERERA °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into

line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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70

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the

following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is

recognised in the year in which the services are provided.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for

leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of

the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when the employees have rendered the services
entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of the reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial
gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial
position with a charge or credit recognised in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is
reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in
profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is
calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the

period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans.
Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of
refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to

the plans.

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions on share options granted to
employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share

options reserve.

when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/
period. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report

FESEEER )

B

S B S HH 46 30 B B A5 AR 2R SR A
FTE AR

RRENREANZFE HEER
MBHNAE - ERHEBRNERSE
a3 N B A 2 U R PR R R B AT
BNIRE AREXABBNTEE
FEEMFEERRBR L AMBEOLA
FHAXIER - LETBREBARBR
RINBHIRE - NEEZ A IR
BEDNRBERRECETHAB L
BEETZREFH -

ERERBADRESAVBHRRR2E
EFBEERAEAEGFERRNA
A BT BR PR AR FE T B 6 D B B T R
RBEERABBE—RIUAEER
MERZRTAER - BEEHEE
E-—RUMAANANHER ZEE
B EERAREARREN AR A
ERZEAMRERZBERER -
& ZR I A RER BN
ERAVBNX ST RINZZH
HiEERBEMSIE > AIBEBE
ENABTTHR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fan

B B R A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost assets,
other than construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting year, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any interest earned on the financial assets
and is included in the 'net gain or loss from fair value changes
of derivative financial instruments’ line item. Fair value is

determined in the manner described in note 31(iii).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including loan to a joint venture, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related companies, and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on loans and receivables

below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the profolio past the average credit
period of 45 to 90 days, observable changes in national or local

economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all loans and receivables with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as hedging
instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the
financial liabilities and included in the ‘net gain or loss from fair
value changes of derivative financial instruments’ line item. Fair

value is determined in the manner described in note 31(iii).

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, amount due to a
substantial shareholder and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is

recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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5.

88

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and bills
receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables and
bills receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness of each
customer. If the financial conditions of the Group’s customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Impairment is made based on the estimation of the future cash
flow discounted at the original effective rate. As at 31
December 2013, an impairment loss amounting to
HK$10,076,000 was recognised on trade receivables and bills
receivables (2012: Nil). Movement in the recognition of
impairment loss described in note 20.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2013, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of the group
companies in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain
those profits in the respective entities for their daily operations
and future developments. In case there is a change in such
plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised
in the profit or loss for the period in which the management
intends to declare such profits in the foreseeable future or the
Group's future development plan is amended, whichever is
earlier. Details are set out in note 26.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group's
operating and reportable segments under “HKFRS 8 —
Operating Segments” are as follows:

() Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high

strength corrugating medium; and

(i) Pulp

EEFTHBREZ 2 EBRR
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IESE T IR HE SR
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FEIBIEEE - KR ERATE
REBEERERZSRNIAEH
ZARRERAEEITR(UREEAR
E)2HRH  REEEPER - FEH
HIEE26 o

WA K2 B E #

FAARBIRITES  HETBELER
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2013

Packaging
paper
HK$'000
FiEn
REVENUE ['ON
External sales HIMEE 16,322,938
Inter-segment sales APz HEHE =
16,322,938
SEGMENT PROFIT PHEF 2,215,769
Net gain from fair value MTEERIALA
changes of derivative BEEF W

financial instruments
Share of profit of a joint venture  JE{5 & & 1> 2 B 7

Unallocated income ADEZWA
Unallocated expenses AoBEZxH
Finance costs BRI
Profit before tax BR % B &

Pulp
N
HK$'000
THET

647,427
74,647

722,074

21,309
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WARDEBER (&)

DEBAREE

AT RBEAREDHEA D 2 AKH
WA R ZEEDH -

HZE2013F128318LLEE

Segment
total Eliminations Consolidated
A 3 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THET

16,970,365 — 16,970,365
74,641 (74,647) =

17,045,012 (74,647) 16,970,365

2,237,078 2,237,078

8,210
460
102,386
(6,782)
(148,881)

2,192,471
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDIER &)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWAREE(E)
Nine months ended 31 December 2012 HZ2012F12A31H 19 A
Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total  Eliminations  Consolidated
BEK N NEEE #HiE ey

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET FEL T FEL

REVENUE ['ON

External sales HOMHE 11,092,888 331,110 11,423,998 — 11,423,998

Inter-segment sales ANz FEHE — 67,551 67,551 (67,551) —

11,092,888 398,661 11,491,549 (67,551) 11,423,998

SEGMENT PROFIT PHEF 1,532,517 7679 1,540,196 — 1,540,196
Net gain from fair value changes #1448 T ER A

of derivative financial BEHFYR

instruments 3,631
Share of loss of a joint venture  JE{EA & ¥ &8 (263)
Unallocated income KoBEzZHRA 30,656
Unallocated expenses APBEzIH (6,009)
Finance costs AR (70,095)
Profit before tax BB AT & F 1,498,116
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KE DB GEHEUR Ty B TR 4P
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. My AEESHEE —H - HHA
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment 1 b%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ FRRER B A - 13 & 5
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of RENTEERIEARBEEEF
derivative financial instruments, share of profit (loss) of a joint Was  BLEEECERN(EE) -
venture, interest income, net exchange gain, finance costs and FLEWA - R FRE - MBAR
other unallocated administrative expenses. This is the measure REMKRDBEITHER ° IR E
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation BRERKREERERSEREKR
and performance assessment. FHEMERFTEFTE ©

Wz EEE HIRBITH IS ERE

o

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

n oD
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDHER (%)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities NTRRAIREDBEI D 2 AE
by reportable segment: BERBESIT

Packaging
paper Pulp Consolidated
BEE K& e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TRT TET

As at 31 December 2013 M2013512H31H
Segment assets DEEE 27,545,081 2,684,065 30,229,146
Unallocated assets Aoz EE 965,560

Consolidated total assets HABEE 31,194,706
Segment liabilities HEEE 2,142,368 2,185,835
Unallocated liabilities koEzafE 12,662,385

Consolidated total liabilities mAkaE 14,848,220

As at 31 December 2012 2012%F12831H

Segment assets S ERE E 24,508,265 2,228,151 26,736,416
Unallocated assets A EE 872,360
Consolidated total assets REBEE 27,608,776
Segment liabilities SEEE 1,997,109 43,495 2,040,604
Unallocated liabilities Koz 86 10,969,982
Consolidated total liabilities meraE 13,010,586
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to operating segments other than retirement benefit assets,
derivative financial instruments, tax recoverable, bank balances
and cash and other assets used jointly by reportable segments,
and all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings
and other liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly
liable.

Share of profit (loss) of a joint venture was excluded from
segment results. However, for loan to joint venture, it was
grouped into packaging paper segment as the loan forms part
of the net investment in a joint venture which is considered as
an ancillary to production of packaging paper by provision of
transportation service.

Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its
major products:

6.

WARDEER (#)

NHEERAEE)

REZDHBRBARR DB EE
R MBEEESDRE TREDMOR
KEMNEE TETRITHE AR
CIFEIR - RITEH MRS M A ]
SN RHRRAMAZ EMBEERIN) A
LB REOSETREN I (ITE
TRMTAE BAHRE RITEER
AHEDAAREMN ZEMLEER
Bh)

EHEEZCERBN(BE) ARG
ADBER - A - AELEER
WEBABEASH  AAZER
RRAErEFRE—MD  BE
PBEREEERMERRY

RKEETEEMBEA

ATARAEERBETEERNBA
DT

Nine months
Year ended ended
ERR T ST@ 31 December
2013 2012
BZE Bz
20135 2012%F
12A31H L 12A3181E
FE 91E A
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Packaging paper (including linerboard ~ BLE 4L (B IE4 4K R RIS 4L
and corrugating medium) 16,322,938 11,092,888
Pulp A% 647,427 331,110
16,970,365 11,423,998
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(CONTINUED)
Geographical information
Over 95% (31 December 2012: 95%) of the Group's revenue

were derived from external customers in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

based on the geographical location of the assets.

WARDEER (#)

b 35 &

AEB 2 W AHIBEI5% (20124F12
A31H :95%)REFBEINBES °

AEEFRBDEEENTIREER
EHET -

Non-current assets
ERBEE
2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET

PRC other than Hong Kong PR BARIN
Vietnam =]
Hong Kong BE

21,367,855 19,279,884
302,310 150,307
64,316 70,019

21,734,481 19,500,210

note:  Non-current assets exclude retirement benefit assets.

Information about major customers

None of the Group’s customers contributed over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue for the current and prior reporting

period.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report
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7. OTHER INCOME 7. HAsrA

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
Bz HZE
20135 20124
12A31H.1t IRV EERR=NIS
FE 91 A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Compensation income from suppliers HERMEBRERMIEZEE
for damaged goods 618 29,612
Income from supply of steam and electricity 1t fE 2% & & & T WA 90,163 61,530
Income from wharf cargo handling RIS EERA 46,074 32,755
Interest income from banks H|RATH A 10,289 11,774
Net foreign exchange gains FE H W 92,097 18,882
Sales of scrap materials and waste paper  EERI M EEAKEE 46,735 23,398
Value added tax and other tax refund ERER R E MR 82,510 58,721
Others EHith 11,941 37,702

380,427 274,374
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BIFERA

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012
BZE BE
20135 20124
12A31H.1t IRV EERR=NIS
FE 91 A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings wholly RAFREBHEEZRITEERNE
repayable within five years 296,357 194,106
Less: amounts capitalised to property, WL ME - BERREZERE
plant and equipment k| (147,476) (124,011)
148,881 70,095
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year/period arose from FERNHRZBREEERA TR
the general borrowings and are calculated by applying a —REERESLE  UABREEHR
capitalisation rate of 3.5% (2012: 4%) per annum to Y ZERILEFEI 5% (20124F -
expenditures on qualifying assets. 4.0%)FTH -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

FEBB
Nine months
Year ended ended

EA BDITdT ST 31 December
2013 2012

BZE HZE

20135 20124
12A31H.1t IRV EERR=NIS
FE 91 A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:  WiEz AR 7 FEH -

Current tax REATRIE

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EPTEH
Overprovision in previous year EFREEE

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EPTISH
Deferred tax (note 26) EIER A (HEE26)

— Charge to profit or loss —FTAE&®

153,313 119,984

(9,708) (10,568)

100,663 67,682

Total income tax recognised in profit or loss 185 N iR 2 K551

244,268 177,098

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the

rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

PRC

The following PRC subsidiaries, are entitled to a reduced EIT
rate due to entitlement of other preferential PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”) treatment for the calendar years of 2012
and 2013 which are summarised as follows:

(i) For the calendar years of 2012 and 2013, Jiangsu Lee &
Man (as defined in note 36) was entitled to a reduced EIT
rate of 15% as it has been qualified as a High and New-
Tech Enterprise (5 i1 1 ).

AEBZBNAREBFNRRHZ
BT BATIR - BORIR [ B "D
EEBRBERAZIHERTH -

]

Tt ey R BB AR R2012F &
2013F EFEESEMPEMERN
BR(TCEMGHRDEEFSE =
BRBEEMSHBE - ST -

(i) P2012F K2013FEF + )L
HIEX(EERMIE36) BRE
SERAEMEEER  ZHR
PEMBRBEIS% o

BGERER AR 2013 F£3R 97



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

98

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)

PRC (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

For the calendar year of 2012 and 2013, Guangdong Lee
& Man (as defined in note 36) was entitled to a reduced
EIT rate of 15% as it has been qualified as a High and
New-Tech Enterprise (S & fir (> 2£).

For the calendar years of 2012 and 2013, Chongging Lee
& Man (as defined in note 36) is regarded as an entity
entitled the China Western Development (7838 AR %)
tax concessions with a preferential EIT rate of 15%.
Further, for the calendar year of 2012, as Chongging Lee
& Man was in its last year of tax holiday for a 50%
reduction in EIT and hence it was entitled to a 50%
reduction in its EIT rate of 15%. As a result, the
applicable EIT rate is 7.5% and 15% for the calendar
years of 2012 and 2013 respectively.

Dongguan Lee & Man (as defined in note 36) was
entitled to a preferential EIT rate of 15% as it has been
qualified as a High and New-Tech Enterprise (=¥l 10
2£) since the calendar year of 2009 and it has successfully
renewed as a High and New-Tech Enterprise in the
calendar year of 2012. As such, it is entitled to enjoy a
reduced EIT rate of 15% for the calendar years of 2012
and 2013.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Since then the IRD has issued protective profits tax assessments
against these subsidiaries in the aggregate amount of
HK$283,325,000 for the years of assessment 2003/2004,
2004/2005, 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 (i.e. the four financial
years ended 31 March 2007).

The subsidiaries lodged objections with the IRD and the IRD
agreed to handover the tax claimed on the basis that the tax
reserve certificate at certain amounts were purchased by the
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2013, the tax reserve certificate
of HK$59,300,000 (2012: HK$52,670,000) have been

purchased by these subsidiaries.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments is
necessary. In addition, as far as the directors are aware, it is still
in a liaison and discussion stage and the IRD has not yet
expressed any formal opinion on the potential tax liability, if

any, because the tax investigation has not completed.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong

Kong.

MEB K (#)
&g

REE2010FE3A831BIEFE -
BEENBR(IMBER]) ERER
ARBBETHBEBRAEERBE S
HMNEMET - HE  BHEBH
2003 2004 - 2004 2005 -
2005 2006 % 2006 2007 2 &
HREEZ(BEZE2007F3A318 1
NEMKEE)  MZEMHB AR
BERREHEFNGSHRINAE LR
283,325,000/8 7T °

MEARRMRERBIRLD RS RS
REMBRAABE —T2HENGE
MEMERLAZEHBE - R
2013F12A318 - ZEWEB A A
288 59,300,000/ 7T (20124 :
52,670,000 0) 2 R % o

EFME BAR LAREEFR
REBMNESRIELEES - B &
ESHEBMA - BRIDEER R
mER  AARGRHREDREK -
MERYRAREEHRFABE(WE)
BEREFMEXER -

HRAEEZWATIFERNRA

BE - HAYEREBNEHAELE
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

100

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for both periods
as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for both reporting

periods.

Other

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED) 9. MEBZHE)

Other (Continued) Hith(42)

The tax charge for the year/period can be reconciled to the FE/BHARBRATBREBERAE

profit per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other mMHEMEEBEROABFEENR

comprehensive income as follows: o

Nine months

Year ended ended

31 December 31 December

2013 2012

BZ BE

2013F 2012

12A31H1E 1233181

FE 9fE A

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FTEL

Profit before tax BRI A1 &R 2,192,471 1,498,116

Tax at the applicable tax rate of year ended B2013F12A3MB I FENBREX

31 December 2013: 25% (nine months ended ~ 25% (2012512 A31BIF9EA : 25%)

31 December 2012: 25%) (note i) (F5ED) 548,118 374,529

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax MBS HOBET 2

purpose 30,107 21,961

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  HBZRME WAL H B E (5,286) (4,809)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AEARBERORESE 8,611 3,937

Effect of tax exemption granted to Macau BENBARERCARMYE

subsidiaries (174,812) (81,343)

Effect of concessionary rates granted to PRC FENBLARERERENYE

subsidiaries (153,000) (127,620)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBZERRSENHBRARINTR
operating in other jurisdictions MERFE 238 1,011

Overprovision in previous year (note i) EFEBERE (M) (9,708) (10,568)

Tax charge for the year/period FE/HARERES 244,268 177,098

notes: B 5

(i) This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a (i) IREAEEBABOEBEEMEZ
substantial portion of the Group’s operation is based. AVEEER 2 EHFTISTE -

(ii) Overprovision mainly represents additional deduction for production cost (i) HERBIZERAERMERINEE
qualified as research and development expenditures under relevant PRC PR AR IR B R 15 33 RIS R B AT 1S Y
tax rules for income tax purpose in the PRC, i.e. an additional 50% of BIREIMIR - ML E BRI ZZ50%%8
such expenses could be deemed as deductible expenses. The approval of SMOEER o E—HRMAEERNEN
the 50% additional deduction of research and development expenses for 50% FR P A F & B ERLE ©

last period was obtained in current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 EZ2013F 12H31H 1t F/&

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD 10. FE HRER
Nine months
Year ended ended

EA BDITdT ST 31 December
2013 2012

BZE HZE

20135 20124
12A31H.1t IRV EERR=NIS
FE 91 A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Profit for the year/period has been FE/HRBFEME
arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EEME (1) 8,756 4,590
Staff salaries and other benefits, ETHFEREMERN  THEES

excluding those of directors 650,112 423,150
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRBAFT SR TREES

schemes, excluding those of directors 54,492 37,632
Total employee benefit expense REGMNMAXZ B 713,360 465,372
Auditor’s remuneration Z E BN & 5,724 5,214
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 17 &R ANFER A H 14,084,063 9,473,295
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  TE/< 1 & 318 5 4 11,258 7,926
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BELERBTE

equipment 668,344 463,453
Total depreciation and amortisation TER#IEEE 679,602 471,379

Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - EKE L RiE2 ERE

equipment 5,475 1,177
Operating lease rentals in respect of land T NREFHLLHEEH S

and buildings 9,501 5,664
Impairment losses on trade receivables & U B 5 8F ZR (B 518 10,076 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EBRFETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (nine ENSRENTHUEEREZTR
months ended 31 December 2012 nine) directors and the chief AB(EHZE20129F12A31H L9
executive were as follows: A D) REmT

Other emoluments
Hin# &

Contributions
Salaries  to retirement

and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees F4R RIKER R X AT Total
ne Hitn @A FTEIfR HE AF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT THER THER TER TERT
Year ended 31 December 2013 HZ2013F12A318
HEE
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FiER
Lee Man Chun Raymond g
Lee Man Bun et
Kunihiko Kashima BEALE
Li King Wai Ross FiRiE
Non-executive director HHTEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERK
Yoshio Haga FEEE
Independent non-executive directors BUFATER
Wong Kai Tung Tony FROR
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies
Chau Shing Yim David BER
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the FEXEEENBAQBERE - Ll
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those BECHEBEEEREZFMEMR
for services rendered by him as the Chairman. BIAR TS 2 Bl & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EBERFETHAEME )

EMOLUMENTS (continuep)

Other emoluments

Hit <
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees ek RIREEF RERE ST A Total
e HinigF FTEIfR RIHE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FRET FET
Nine months ended 31 December 2012 #,&20124F
12A31HE91EA
Executive directors HITEF
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FiER — — — — —
Lee Man Chun Raymond E gt 1,673 847 — — 2,520
Lee Man Bun £y 773 847 — — 1,620
Kunihiko Kashima EEALE — — — — —
Non-executive director FHTEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERK — — — — —
Yoshio Haga FEER — — — — —
Independent non-executive directors BV HEHITEE
Wong Kai Tung Tony FREE 150 — — — 150
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 150 — — — 150
Chau Shing Yim David JEEK 150 — — — 150
2,896 1,694 — — 4,590

HZE2013F12A31HIEFERER
201212 A3181L9EAR - A& H
WESHEAME TFTESEAFE
HEmMASAKRE B &5k K EHDE
NEZFHE ZEHHLELME
EWEMNSE -

For the year ended 31 December 2013 and the nine months
ended 31 December 2012, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. No directors
waived any emoluments during these periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. AfuGEEMEA L

rEEHZeaMe A AL - EA
—f (B =E2012F12A31H L9
A :MO)ABARARESTMANEE
REMMFENHE - Afuma i
AB(BEESZ)zEMamT -

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (nine months ended 31 December 2012: two)
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note 11 above. The aggregate
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals, including

directors, were as follows:

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December

2013 2012

) HE

20135 20124

12A318 .t IRV EERR=NIS

FE 918 A

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Salaries and other benefits o REMET 13,315 9,199
Contributions to retirement benefit RKEA G BIE K

schemes 15 "

9,210

The emoluments were within the following bands: e N F 5488 :
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L% 1,500,000 7T —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L%2,000,0008 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00147L%2,500,000/ 7T —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001#7T%3,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 25,500,000 7T —
5
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

13.

106

DIVIDENDS 13. RE
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December [EEREPCNII
2013 2012
BZE BE
20135 20124
1283181 EEPEENRNS
FE 91 A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution: BRAEDRZIE
Final dividend of HK$0.05 in respect 2012F 12 A31H L9 A 2 RE %
of the nine months ended B E80.050% (201243 31
31 December 2012 (Final dividend HIEFE 2 REREER0.0527%8
of HK$0.052 in respect of the year )
ended 31 March 2012) per share 235,382 243,860
Interim dividend of HK$0.073 in respect  2013F 12 A31H L FE 2 FHIMR B
of the year ended 31 December 2013 §h%0.073%8 (2012912 A31
(Interim dividend of HK$0.050 in B 1E9fE A Z & #AR B & A%0.050
respect of the nine months ended BT
31 December 2012) per share 342,814 234,481
578,196 478,341
A final dividend of HK$0.073 per share in respect of the year EFEFREEE2013F12 A 31
ended 31 December 2013 (2012: final dividend of HK$0.050 HIEFERARSEFR0.0738 T
per share in respect of the nine months ended 31 December (20124 : E#=2012F12A3181
2012) has been proposed by the directors and is subject to 9fE A RHEAMR S & 0.050%87T) - 1
approval by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general BITIRRAEERR AR GHAE
meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

4. BRERF

Year ended
31 December
2013

S

2013%
12A31H1E
FE
HK$'000
THET

Earnings for the purpose of basic and

diluted earnings per share

RN ESRERRE TR 2 AT
1,948,203

Year ended
31 December
2013

Bz

2013%
12A31H1E
FE
Number of
shares

ROBE

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options

AR B S R A BRI BB 0
T8

4,693,689,102
TERBESEYE
BB 9,375,752

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

R AR 8 R B ) AR
T8
4,703,064,854

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]

ARABBEBEANEBREAREEA
MIT3AT 5 Bim B2 E

Nine months
ended

31 December
2012

BE
20124
12A31H 1t
9fE A
HK$'000
FET

1,321,018

Nine months
ended

31 December
2012

BE
20124
12A318 1t
9fEl A
Number of
shares

Bih#E

4,689,622,980

32,460,064

4,722,083,044
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

Sl 0 e
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. M1%¥ - BERZ®E
Furniture,
fixturesand
Computer equipment Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings system  &# > EE improvements vehicles machinery  inprogress Total
EF ERZE  RERRE BENEES RE  BERESE ERIRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET TR TEL T TR TEL T TR
cost RA
At 1 April 2012 20124818 3,228,574 25,301 440,024 479,168 59,169 11,944,554 3,714,197 19,890,987
Exchange realignment X EFAEA 44961 1 5,693 6,055 606 170,685 41,554 269,555
Additions HhE 11,215 — 20,034 1,327 7,038 52,373 2,012,111 2,104,098
Transfers i 533313 — 12,840 14,288 — 2,245,101 (2,805,542) -
Disposals/written off HE/HE - - (1,266) - (7,675) (2,965) - (11,906)
At 31 December 2012 20129124318 3,818,063 25,302 477,325 500,838 59,138 14,409,748 2,962,320 22,252,734
Exchange realignment EREHNAR 102,130 an 12,666 12,8% 1,368 368,554 51,358 549,381
Additions RE 32,652 19,157 23,154 5,446 5693 99,702 2,056,718 2,242,522
Transfers 44 532,626 — 79,854 14,606 — 1,757,614 (2,384,700) -
Disposals/written off HeE /WE — — (1,166) — (4,034) (10,621) — (15,821)
At 31 December 2013 2013F12A318 4,485,471 44870 591,833 533,784 62,165 16,624,997 2,685,696 25,028,816
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2012 201254318 683,803 12,467 195,509 126,320 38,833 1,910,921 - 2,967,853
Exchange realignment ERENAA 9,4% — 2,641 1,706 369 26,113 — 40,325
Provided for the period HNEE 114,065 1,894 30,856 18,075 3,998 294,565 — 463,453
Eliminated on disposals/ & /# 8 E 44
written off - — (1,104) — (6,771) (1,235 — (9,110)
At 31 December 2012 20129128318 807,364 14,361 227,902 146,101 36,429 2,230,364 - 3,462,521
Exchange realignment EREHNAR 2,119 18 6,109 3,935 776 43,685 — 76,642
Provided for the year FREE 158,995 3,940 42,856 25,215 5415 431,923 - 668,344
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#BEES i
written off - — (1,038) - (3,753) (3,860) - (8,651)
At 31 December 2013 2013F12A318 988,478 18,319 275,829 175,251 38,867 2,702,112 — 4,198,856
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2013 2013€12A318 3,496,993 26,551 316,004 358,533 23,298 13,922,885 2,685,696 20,829,960
At 31 December 2012 2012124318 3,010,699 10,941 249,423 354,737 22,709 12,179,384 2,962,320 18,790,213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

The above buildings of the Group represent buildings on lands under
medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC with
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2013, the carrying value of such buildings
was HK$1,093,003,000 (2012: HK$922,964,000). In the opinion of
directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course.

As disclosed in note 32, certain portions of the buildings have been leased
to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as investment
properties as the leased portions could not be sold separately and a
significant portion of the buildings is held for use in the production or for
administrative purposes.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer system 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% —15%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 3% -20%

15. ¥ - MERKE#)

()  bBzAfEERFLIATEGHEEL

Ho b2 BT o

iy AEBEEETEFERDARAETA
SEEAEAERZFR LM E - B

2013412 A31H

CREBTFIZRE

& A 1,093,003,000 7 7T (2012 £ :

922,964,000 L) - EER B RHRZ

ERFEABARIT TR REAKEN
EEFEE EATEEEXNAIHN
BEZS L2 RERARRERE
BRERIE i YR i R R T
o BRETBEETARRARESE
ETZERTZIEANERE -

(iii)

FE32FE - BT EPETHRHEMR

FT-HEAL - ZEBTROBERKE

W BRESNHALTEE

BHE &

BFRABNDIHERELEEXITHRA

BWERIRI -

ME - FER&EET

RETES RSB EER - RIE TR
SAELOR SHE T B LSS A - F R

T

BF

BHEM

B~ EERE MR E
HEWEEE

TE

s Rtk Eg
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10%
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20%
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. ESHERE
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands AEEENFHEHEFRAREHRHHEE
held under medium-term leases located in: HTRZHEEI AR
2013 2012
20134 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
PRC H 566,933 514,629
Vietnam R 45,123 45,659
612,056 560,288
Analysed for reporting purposes as: AmEREmMIEZ DT :
Non-current asset ERENEE 598,929 547,912
Current asset mENEE 13,127 12,376
612,056 560,288
As at 31 December 2013, the carrying value of land use rights M2013F 128310 - AEERER
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal FTEXNGEAERE LHFERECET
title of ownership was HK$120,362,000 (2012: 8 74120,362,000% 7T (2012 4F :
HK$67,656,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence 67,656,0000/870) - EER AKX
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value hETERRERNEGTRLTE
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid BEXASEHEEMEER BAX
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use SEEXNAHOHEEZ L HES
rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an REEARBREXNEESENERM
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that e timge M TEM - EE
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the MEEETABREASESER T
Group in due course. ZETMEREEXNEEE -
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RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

17. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 17. BEYXE BREERZERLT
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND HEREMTET 2
LAND USE RIGHTS
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the sl e—AEB AR THEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use MEBENYE  BEREER T
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments TRAEMNGS BEWE BER
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use FEAR LR A EAER
rights are disclosed in note 33. BIEE33H5 58 ©
18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. EERER
2013 2012
2013%F 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Cost of unlisted investments in RE&EREZREMRERR
joint ventures —
Exchange realignment fEH EHAEE 521
Share of profit (loss) and other FEIEEF (EE) &
comprehensive income (expense) Emezmkzm(BR) (257)
264
Loan to a joint venture (note ii) HEPEER(M ) 64,390
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conTinuED) 18. & b¥ERER (&)
notes: Bt 5
(i) Details of the Group’s joint ventures and its subsidiary at the end of the (i)

R¥ERAREE 2 & &0 XK A
DRFEWAT

reporting period are as follows:

Proportion of issued

Place of Issued and fully fully paid up capital
Name of joint ventures and incorporation paid share capital/ and voting rights
its subsidiary and operations registered capital held by the Group Principal activity
BELER RUKEELH BRITRHMERE FEERBERTR TEXK
HHBARER AmEA HRBRALLA
Directly Indirectly
HE B
Joint Ventures:
AEhE
Southern Hill Hong Kong Ordinary shares 50% —  Investment holding
= B - HK$2 RERK
L@k - 25T
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
HIHBAR
mEBXMRERAR PRC Registered capital — 50%  Provision of port facilities
(Ruichang Lee & Man h —US$12,000,000 REA DR
Logistics Company Limited) FEallif= ¥
-12,000,000%7T

(i) The loan is provided to the joint venture in the form of a shareholder’s (i) HEAECEBEFURE BT A RE
loan and it forms part of the net investment in the joint venture. The R AEGEREFREN—TD - ZH
amount is unsecured, interest-free and no fixed repayment term but the BIEER  REREETERS E
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. HEMNEETS - thR MY AIREERTE

RH G REAE -
Summarised financial information of material FTERECEMKERNPE

joint ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s EHAEBTEGEDEHBE
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised B EZEHIN AT o TXHBEERBE
financial information below represents amounts shown in the ENEELERBREBMBmEL
joint venture’s consolidated financial statements prepared in AR EGEMBREMER LS
accordance with HKFRSs. B o

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in SRPENZEZEAMGREEA
these consolidated financial statements. B ENER ©
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ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continueD) 18. &R (E)
Southern Hill's consolidated financial Bl EEMBEER
information

2013 2012
201345 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current assets TENEE 1,583 10,416
Non-current assets FERBEE 183,634 119,691
Current liabilities mEEE (181,497) (799)
Non-current liabilities ERHBE (128,780)
The above amounts of assets and T EERGEZEERE .
liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents ReELBREEEY 10,364
Non-current financial liabilities ErHemaBE(TEREENES

(excluding trade and other payables N H A0 AR R N B )

and provisions) (119,121)
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminueD) 18. &R (E)
Southern Hill's consolidated financial Bl ZEEMBER (&)

information (Continued)

Nine months
Year ended ended

ER RIS T@ 31 December

2013 2012

8=z HE

20135 20124

12A31H8 1k 12A3181E

FE 91E A

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Revenue ' ON = —

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FE/HEBAN(ER) MEESE

income (expense) for the year/period s (Z i) (526)
The above profit (loss) for the year/period include the following: FFEE HEAER(EIE) B
Nine months

Year ended ended

EA B ITET ST 31 December

2013 2012

BZE #HE

2013%F 20124

12A31H Lt 12A318 1k

FE 918 A

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Depreciation and amortisation e R (40) (18)
Interest income MEWA —
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminuED) 18. EET¥ERER(H)
Southern Hill’s consolidated financial Mgz REMBER(F)
information (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information PR BERNMED BELLRE MG
to the carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill WMEBERAREE  ED 2 REEY
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. B o

19.

2013 2012
201345 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET

Net assets of Southern Hill
Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in Southern Hill

gz FEE 3,720 528
7 £2 [ B2 1 U8 BT 4 25 EE 1
50% 50%

Carrying amount of the Group’s

AEBERE E#ED ZREE

interest in Southern Hill 264
INVENTORIES 19. BE&

2013 2012

201345 20124

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Raw materials B 2,575,323 2,250,345

Finished goods AKX @ 547,388 629,388

3,122,711 2,879,733
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 Z ZF20134€ 124318 1L F/Z

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BEIREZ R HMIRM
2013 2012
2013 % 20124
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FABTT
Trade receivables EWE SR 2,620,403 2,119,318
Less: allowance for doubtful debt o RIEREE (10,076) —

2,610,327 2,119,318
Bills receivables FEUL 1,680,642 1,202,941

4,290,969 3,322,259

Prepayments and deposits for purchase B& & REFEM KB NG &
of raw materials 657,947 546,381
Other deposits and prepayments HEahE] € MBI FIE 108,473 95,321
VAT receivables JE Ui 32 (B B 51 0E 329,102 429,716
Other receivables H b fE W 5108 195,687 141,023

5,582,178 4,534,700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuep)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates.

W E 5 Kk H AR (&)

AEERERNEMHEPA -

Bt il
BEEEFPNEREERETHEEER
B GEHERERTREECHREN
BF  BEFPEERETHTURS - A
SEETEPNTHEARSARAHE
90H - U T RMEMAIZERAH(A
EEENBAERES) 2 ZRKE
2 EEBRERNREDT

Aged: BREC
Not exceeding 30 days @30 H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H

Over 120 days 12088 &

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$46,833,000 (2012: HK$76,133,000)
which were past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such balances
could be recovered based on historical experience. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The directors consider all trade
receivables (other than those for which impairment losses have been
recognised) at the end of the reporting date are of good credit quality
with reference to the track records of these customers under internal
assessment by the Group.

(if)

BXGERARA

2013 2012

20135 20124

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET

3,219,934 2,454,134

850,628 671,911

173,574 120,081

14,705 29,277

32,128 46,856

4,290,969 3,322,259
AEEEKESEREHRTRERR

& & # 46,833,000 T (2012 4
76,133,000/ 7T ) &) fE I B 5 BR XA 5]
HHABEEH  MASERABRIES
T - ZSEMRER T LAE -
EITIRREBEREE - AEEWERK
SEBBFETMNERR - EAEERE
ZEBPNABRRESEELOARIBTME
EERAEREEAMEEREHER
(ZEEBAREBENRINHAER
FEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contvuep)  20. BRE B K HAbLBRNK (42)

notes: (Continued) BT« (48)
(if) (Continued) (i) (#)
Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired BHERNRBENERE S RRO KRR
2013 2012
20135 20124F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
91-120 days 91—120H 14,705 29,277
Over 120 days 120HM £ 32,128 46,856
46,833 76,133
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RERBHED
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2013 2012
#E HE
20135 20124
12A31HLE 12H31H1E
FE ofil A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
At 1 January/April W1A/ 4818 — 14,849
Impairment losses recognised on receivables BB IR FER 2 RUEE 1R 10,076 —
Amounts written off as uncollectible R & R ER — (14,849)
At 31 December M12A31H —
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired RERBEREAENEREEBNEE
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$10,076,000 (2012: BHRRENEREZEFRE 682
Nil) which have either been placed under liquidation or are in severe #10,760,000 7T (20124 : &) ©
financial difficulties.
(i)~ Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WINEHEEELBINEERITENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: WHE 5 REMEETNT -
2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
HK$ BT 214,024 240,741
United States dollars (“US$") = ([Z=x])) 20,835 19,185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 21 BRI BEERAREER

COMPANIES AND A SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER

The amounts due from related companies represent trade
balances due from Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited
("Jiangsu Chemical”) and Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing
Limited (“LMIML"), both of which are beneficially owned and
controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, and his daughter,
respectively.

The amount due to a substantial shareholder represent trade
balance due to Nippon Paper Group Inc. (“Nippon Paper”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows related companies an average credit period of
30 days and the amounts for both years were aged less than
30 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the balances
were neither impaired nor past due. The credit period granted
by a substantial shareholder is 30 days and the amount was
aged less than 30 days.

The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance
due to Jiangsu Chemical. The amounts are unsecured, interest-
free, with average credit period of 30 days and were aged less
than 30 days.

The amounts due from related companies and due to a
substantial shareholder that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

RFE

JRE 5 [ 3 R B R IR T FE WO B I8 X
{ETBERAF(NIFHMLTI]) RLee
& Man Industrial Manufacturing
Limited([BXEX)WNE H#EH
MERRADRIBEARAESE KK
ERBRRFERLEERELRER
A R

ENETERRRBADENARRE
EERRAARAEE([AAREE])
ZE D HERR

ZEFARERAARRE - AEH
—RETHEERARFHEEH0R
RZFERMEFENREKS DR
308 - RMEHR - ZFEEHUE
BEXAHY TERRETZEER
HIR30H R RS L 7R30H -

e R E R R RIATI BT T
WE SR BB ERR %
B FHEEH308 REREKDR30
E o

YINEREEERYEERETE
M B R E AR Mk ERR IR
pIgnE

Amounts due from related FE A E N B B

companies — HK$ —BTT

Amounts due to related JiE Y B & R R 5RIR
companies — HK$ —BTT

Amounts due to a substantial ENEZREFRIE
shareholder — HK$ —BTT

2013 2012
20135 20124

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

3,835 7,051

12,306 143

(5,642) (6,378)
BGERAR AT 2013 8 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITHEHRRES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and BITERERE2BEAEEFAED
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three e MR AF3ME A AN E
months or less. HRITER °
Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than WHNEHRERERBIGEEKHE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set B ERITASERE TN T -
out below:

2013 2012

20135 20124

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHET

HK$ BT 39,515 62,566

Us$ ETT 70,554 7,211
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ENESREMRR

2013 2012

20134 20124

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHE T

Trade and bills payables ERESREERX 2,175,485 2,034,083

Construction fee payable FERf TR 543,889 605,048

Dividend payable JET AR 2. = 234,481

Accruals EETE A 189,897 167,950

Receipt in advance TE W R IE 113,864 156,797
Other payables H b e 0 142,127 110,968

3,165,262 3,309,327
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

notes:

U]

BNE S REMIRR (&)

(i) BB E 2 FHRERAH30E£1208F
Lo TRANBREHRREEZBHIE
NESRERRRZERDN -

2013
20135
HK$'000
FTET

1,008,030
CYAR:EY]
369,958
312,226

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTinuED) 23.
MEsE
The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.
Aged: AR
Not exceeding 30 days THEE30H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 12084 &

(i)

13,440

2,175,485

Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(i) AIFANFHEEEEED
NESREMEBETNT :

2013
20134
HK$'000

FTEx

Euro (“EUR")
us$

B
257

455,446
1,356,574

2012
20124
HK$'000
FHT

887,187
371,138
385,549
363,093

27,116

2,034,083

BEHERNE

2012
20124
HK$'000
F#T
4,864
1,342,287
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 Z ZF20134€ 124318 1L F/Z

24. SR1TEE
AEBYRTES(2HHAEE

24. BANK BORROWINGS

The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured,

comprised: )8
2013 2012
2013%F 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Bank loans RITER 10,368,852 8,599,451
Bank import loans RITEOER 590,257 474,056
10,959,109 9,073,507
The bank borrowings are repayable MITEENERAOT
as follows:
Within one year —E R 3,636,575 2,358,050
More than one year, but not exceeding #&38— 18 > AR
two years 4,117,433 2,406,362
More than two years, but not exceeding BB/ FE DR A 4F
five years 1,180,400 2,802,639
8,934,408 7,567,051
Carrying amount of bank loans that are 7B FR&E BAKRET —FNEEE
not repayable within one year from HEEREXR BRIEHRZIETE
the end of the reporting period but FEEME
contain a repayment on demand
clause 2,024,701 1,506,456

10,959,109 9,073,507
W TEREN B BN — F AR
shown under current liabilities 18 (5,661,276) (3,864,506)

Less: Amount due within one year

Amount due after one year — & B Ei o 5,297,833 5,209,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

24. BANK BORROWINGS (conminuED)

notes:

(U]

All the above bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from
Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1.00% to HIBOR plus
2.55% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 1.03% to LIBOR
plus 2.55% (2012: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.95% to HIBOR plus 2.55%
or LIBOR plus 0.95% to LIBOR plus 2.55%) per annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

24. SBTEE (&)

B EE
()

THAERTEEYARTZEEE  F
BERBESBBITREEFREMI.00%E
2.55% HmBERITREFREN1.03%E
2.55%TE (20126 « BBERITRER
BN0.95%%2.55% s BRITEZE
FENO0.95%E2.55% %) »

KREBRITEE Z BRI X NEFHE
W

2012
20124
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE 2.12%
(i) The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other (i)  WIABBAEBERBDEEBTEZIR
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out SERITEENAT ¢
below:
2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
EUR T 120,788 —
us$ T 1,443,750 1,753,935
HK$ BT 762,592 695,000
25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. fTHEE€mTIT A
Current Non-current
i) FRE
2013 2012 2013 2012
2012F 2012% 2012F 2012%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TR TER TERL

Derivative financial liabilities fTESRat
- net settlement -RELE
Foreign currency forward contracts — SMEEHIAL
(note i) (FzEi)
Derivative financial assets fIESREE
- net settlement -RHELE
Foreign currency forward contracts MNEEBRAY
(note i) (WD)

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

3= =T ==
25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. TSR I A (#E)

(CONTINUED)

notes: B s

(i)  Foreign currency forward contracts (i) SEEBEHD
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at MR2013F 12 A3 1B ARG EHE
31 December 2013 are as follows: Nz EEERAT -
Notional amount Currency conversion
#HetE EiEin
7 contracts to buy Great British Pound (“GBP") GBP1: HK$12.3661-12.7244

18,270,000 in total

71 & ##£E 18,270,000 85 ([ #45 |) 153855,12.3661512.724478 T
11 contracts to buy EUR43,955,653 in total EUR1: HK$10.2473-10.6117
1117 & 414+ E43,955,653B07T 1B H 10.2473510.61177 T
1 contract to buy EUR8,000,000 in total EUR1: US$1.3692
1154 #)3£E8,000,000B 7T 18T 1.3692% T
3 contracts to buy US$47,500,000 in total US$1: HK$7.7515-7.7519
317 &K E47,500,000% 7T 13T 7.751527.7519% T
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at M2012F 12 A3TBRTHEINEERE
31 December 2012 are as follows: R EFEEFMT -
Notional amount Currency conversion
#HetE gEiEin
4 contracts to buy GBP8,090,000 in total GBP1: HK$12.2892-12.5752
41 & #3£ 58,090,000 85 15 $55,12.2892E12.5752% T
9 contracts to buy EUR27,770,000 in total EURT: HK$9.8832-10.2438
9N A #IELE 27,770,000 T 1870 79.8832%10.24388 7T
1 contract to buy EUR2,099,634 in total EUR1: US$1.297
194 43 E2,099,634E T 1B 1.297% T
6 contracts to buy US$63,583,064 in total US$1: HK$7.7504-7.7515
617 & KL E 63,583,064 T 1227035, 7.750427.75158 T

(i)  The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were (i) LEdfTAESMTAZAREBENREER
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable BENNEERST RN TEST
forward foreign exchange rates. "o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. IERERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFTZEEBREEMBEER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year/ RITRBEFE HEZE2H -
period:
Undistributed
earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax  subsidiaries
depreciation R [ Ff
ERBIR DEZ Total
e KRoOWEA Bt
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT TR TAETT

At 1 April 2012 201254 H1H 468,856 4,145 473,001

Charge to profit or loss FFAEE 67,682 — 67,682

At 31 December 2012 20125 12H31H 536,538 4,145 540,683

Charge to profit or loss FFAE &= 100,663 — 100,663

At 31 December 2013 2013%12H31H 637,201 4,145 641,346

notes: B EE -

(i) At 31 December 2013, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately (0 M2013F 128318 » KNEB A H
HK$81,000,000 (2012: HK$46,000,000) available for offset against future AETEEENAXBMNZBES
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such 8 49 /81,000,000 % 7T ( 2012 &
losses for both years due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 46,000,000 70) B A ERTES R 9k
31 December 2013, tax losses of approximately HK$9,844,000 (2012: BB MEEEYARZSERR
HK$5,322,000) from the PRC subsidiaries will expire at various dates up DAETFIBBEE - R2013412 A31
to and including 2018 (2012: 2017). B - BIEE 849,844,000 7T (2012

1 5,322,000/870) kA FEKEA
AR EEL BIE20184F (20124 ¢
2017 ) 2 Z AR B EARIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

26. DEFERRED TAX (conminuED)

notes: (continued)

(i)

(iif)

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out of profit
earned by entities established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards is
subject to withholding tax at 10%. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong and holding at least 25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a
preferential rate of 5% can be applied. The Group has not provided for
deferred tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of
some of its PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its subsidiaries
such that no withholding tax will be payable in the foreseeable future. As
at the end of the reporting period, the deferred tax liabilities in relation to
the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised were approximately HK$138 million
(2012: approximately HK$117 million).

The tax rates of certain subsidiaries were changed when these subsidiaries
became entitled to concessionary tax rates pursuant to relevant incentive
tax rules as detailed in note 9.

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

126

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong
Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd. (“Fortune Star”) which is beneficially owned
and controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
controlling shareholder of the Company. In December
2000, all the existing members of the defined benefit
plan were enrolled into a MPF Scheme and their accrued
benefits for the past services under the defined benefit
plan were frozen as at 30 November 2000. The defined
benefit plan was closed to new employees from
December 2000 onwards.

26.

EERIE (&)

BeE - ()

(if)

(iii)

27.
(i)
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10% ° BBk BERFEATRA
HBO25%EEMNREE  ERERERE
5% o AR EFABE A A A 0] 4% 6l KK
BARETRMN ZERE - AR ROE
RASHRIBINR - WAEEEPEF
B E AR MEERSBERFGIRELR
BAREREE RREHR - RPEHE
RAIRDEBFIEE M AREROETH
TEHABEHEI138BEHBL(2012F - &4
M7IBEEAT) -

ETHBARZHERNEZRABRYE
BEEARRZTEEEVERET - F58
AKTFES ©

RARE R 5T &

REBEEMRNTE

REM T2

REEZE—ERENE S
B K B - % &t & X Fortune
Star Tradings Ltd ( [ Fortune

Star]) B HASEMNEHD
MEBEARZAEKEBSHE -
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RARERBRRFTERLAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (continueD)

(i)

(ii)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by
the number of pensionable service years up to 30
November 2000 on attainment of a retirement age of 55.
The defined benefit plan was terminated in current
reporting period. No further details were presented for
the defined benefit plan in both reporting period as the
directors considered the effect is insignificant to the
Group.

Defined contribution plan

The Group also operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
(up to 31 May 2012) and HK$1,250 (starting from 1 June
2012) or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by

employees.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the specified contributions.

27. BRKBRIFTE(#)

(i)

(ii)

BGERER AR 2013 F£3R

REBEEMRNTE(E)

REMZETEI(E)
BERENZTE - BERF
[ 55 5% 3R K 2 B R 1] & BLAY
R ANRE A B F R A R 2000 4F
1MA BN ZREHFESHN0%E
100% 15 - FRIAE Z20004F
11 A30H IEAEEHRIN© 8 AR
BEE - REMRFTEERAR
WMERKRLE BHREEFRR
AEN@mEEHAAEBEMA
TE - ARSBE—FE2IR
E M et BRI FFEE ©

FLE HRGTE
AEEBNTAMESERESR
IHEEEETE - ZETEM
EEEASEMNEES R
B UARBAGTEABTENE
© o AEEIKR1,0008 L(EE
20129F5A31H) %1,250%8 7T
(M2012F6 A1 HFEKB)HA
BAHEKANS% @ UBRES
RYE - FRTERET S - H
BB MR —5 -

RHEEEMRAEE

TENEARREANEESS
B B U & R B R B IR R
RAEF & - P EK B A A
ARREEFENETANL
AR KR MG B - ERTE
MZ B o AEEERAKENG
M- RERIELEEMR

o
A °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

28.

128

SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ERREE x|
Note HK$'000
it & TEx
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 201254418 20126
at 1 April 2012, 31 December 2012 12A318 K%2013%F
and 31 December 2013 12A3188/R0.025% T
VR 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 201294718 20124
at 1 April 2012 and 31 December 2012 124318 §MKR0.025E T
& B 4,689,622,980 117,241
Shares repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt o8 (i) (60,206,648) (1,505)
Exercise of share options IfeiE R 29 66,666,668 1,666
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each #2013F12 A31B&H0.025
at 31 December 2013 IR L A 4,696,083,000 117,402

All the new shares were issued in current year rank passu with

the existing shares in all respects.

Note:

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2013

FIBRANERERTONBROEST

mERE RN ZHERER

feE -

(i) The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i)

No. of ordinary

ARRRBXFABEAG 2RO

HZE2013F12831HLLEE

Aggregate
consideration

shares of Price paid per share paid (including

HK$0.025 each BRI E® expenses)

Month of 5020.025%8 T Highest Lowest RANEANRE
repurchases BE A5 ZBEREA BBs BiK (BE#H)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000

January 2013 2013418 29,441,980 5.18 4.74 145,427
February 2013 201342 A 1,861,000 5.39 5.18 9,986
March 2013 2013434 607,000 5.80 5.52 3,486
April 2013 2013447 13,256,668 5.99 5.59 77,628
May 2013 2013454 6,188,000 5.65 5.06 32,776
June 2013 201346 7 8,852,000 4.89 3.93 39,965
60,206,648 309,268

The above shares were subsequently cancelled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. REXNARS

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, a share option scheme
was approved and adopted (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the
Scheme. The Scheme expired on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any director (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
and employees of the Group in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group may be determined by
the Board from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the

Company (the “Shares™).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance

with the Listing Rules.

RIEA QB EN 200349 A 11
HREMESErEER  BRETE
([8ZaT &) EHt & R -

BV EEERBERETESER
BEBALT - ZrrEMARBAER
MBEEET 104 - PR20135F9 /10
HIEm °

REZAE  EFQATRHEBR
ERLBERETOAEENERNE
F(BRATES FRTESIE
VHRATER) RRAKER A ER
AR Z AR ERRZANE
BEE : H(DAREEAKE AT
MEMER  BEXEM - D#HE
B HER - RKEAFF -
EBRH  HEEABNMRBHEER
(IREEETRET)  URBEAX
REBD (TR 1) -

RhzBRECARKL B BHET
28RN - IR ER D
MBREMS RO ESEE
EEARENSEBERARRDET
BRAR10% ° BR FER B A5 BRI AR
ERBARABRRNILAE - BRIME
] N AEER121E A BE AR
BhEmMENOEHESEE - T
SEEn E12MEA ME&RE AR
RAREBEITRDENT1% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the

29 REXRNRZ (&)

BEREAINEFEETNHR(ER
BRETEAMLAFANKEHR
(B )17 (X AR A B ERE
BIOTAMEF T EBEI0F) - KT
BXMABTERBRERBEREN
REHN  BRBEAEHAELNS
NHOBERTEL - TEEMHESR
TIEEE : (VROEE: ()kH
RELAMEBRIAEARERMN
REWTE - R>iRDEEERD

B AEEXAEBXME AR
EBRMROFHWRTIE -

average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

TERBBEER/HNEE(REE
F) R A RE R BRI AL T
RRCHE S 1 T 2

The following table discloses details of the Company’s options
granted under the Scheme held by employees (including
directors) and movement in such holdings during the year/

period:
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Exercised at Exercised at
price at during 31 December during 31 December
Category Date of grant HK$ 1 April 2012 the period 2012 the year 2013
R2012% Ra012% 20135
e 4A18 il 128318 £h 12318
Bl RHAH o WATE e WATE e WARTE
Directors 5 September 2008
2 200859458 1.872 66,666,668 — 66,666,668 (66,666,668) -
Exercisable at the end
of the year/period
RE/BRATTRHA 66,666,668 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be exercised in
accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as to:

()

(ii)

(iii)

up to 66,666,668 of the options exercisable commencing
1 September 2009 to 31 August 2013, with vesting
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.4075;

up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2010, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.48; and

up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2011, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.5325, of which, 133,333,332 of
options were exercised during the year ended 31 March
2011.

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods

described in (i), (ii) and (iii) above, commencing from 1
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to
achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets for
the Group for each of the years ended 31 March 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively.

No share-based payment expense was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

29 REXRNRZ (&)

P2008F9 A5 HE W 2 BB AT AR
BErE T AERITENT -

(i)

(if)

(iii)

200949 1H=E201348 A
31 B A[ 1T £ & % 66,666,668
e REETE B
200849 A5H E 200948 A
310 - GRBRELRERE
A2 RARBEHF0.40758TT

201098 1H=201348 A
31A AT & % 133,333,332
B w0 BE AR i R EEITE Hl B
200849 A5HZE201048 A
318 - SREREAREAE
Bz AREHNR0ASHET &k

2011498 1HZ201348 A
31H A 171# 5 % 200,000,000
B BB AR i R EREITE S M
20089 A5H=201148 A
318 - SREREARLEAE
A2 ARE#R0.53258TT ¢
B 133,333,332 ERED
R2011MF3A31BIEFET
e

H2009F9A1HBEE2013F8A31
HIER BT EERITE i), i)

R (iii) B AR B

HEMAEERD

AEZE 20094 ~ 2010F K& 201143
ANMBIFESFZ2HEEMAETA
FEARZ -

HE2013F12A31HIEFERRE
fRES B RmRARKR2012: &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

30. EXREEE

AEBERHEEANERAEEDN
ERUFELEEY  WEBKE
BEHEERL I RERTE ARMH
REOE - AEENEBBRER
HEEF—H -

AEENERAGEBRRBER  EF
BRETEEARAAREDRFA
ANEEEZ(BREBTRARZIA
) -

ARBEETHRIENERE - 1F
BEEHN D EEHEEEN
RARAREZEBEABRAORER -
REBEENEZ  AKESBBIK
MR ~ BT B LA A R
BOHEXERRETEEERE
AEERE -

31. T A

(i) Categories of financial instruments (i) =mIAE7

Financial assets
Fair value through profit or loss —

derivative financial instruments

Loans and receivables (including cash

and cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit or loss —
derivative financial instruments

Amortised cost

2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$"000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
CRMEE
BARER ABE—
PTESBMTA 12,733 5,084
ER R EWFHIE
(BiERekReEFEY) 5,723,938 4,807,271
CREE
BRANERAEZE —
MESMITE — 561
BESH AR 13,863,744 11,830,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to
a joint venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from (to) related companies, derivative financial
instruments, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amount due to a substantial shareholder, and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(a)  Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.

(ii)

1. EmIAE)

BREREERNREE

AEENETZESRTARES
EREER  BRESKEM
R EW () BEQ AR
BHfTEem T A BITEH
kBE EBHEHRHEME
o B EEREFERIRTT
BE oM TANFBERIEEH
MIcIH e - MZEEemI AR
BEHRREEMSERER(EE
BEREkFMERR)  FERR

KnEE® B - a0 5%
ZERBOBREINNAT - TR
BERREZEZERE - AW
REBABMKABEE G
i

5 R

(a) E&Ek
AEBGFHEIINERZS - =
REEBERZINEER G
SRR TSR - BT
FRRSNE R - AEER
ATERINER BETLHN
%i%A@°ﬁﬁF%%

PERAMIMNER R -
ZENVERE Eﬁl
/E{ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. €M T A#&)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miZRER (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant REBRIHRE B I FELAE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding HMEEERNEEEE
intercompany balances and derivative financial ZEEEHEEREKA
instruments, that are denominated in currencies BRI AERRITE
other than the functional currency of the relevant eEIT AR MEREE
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows: U
Monetary assets (note): B EE(ME)
2013 2012
20134 20124
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
HK$ BT 257,374 308,697
us$ ETT 87,541 24,355
EUR T 28 104
Monetary liabilities (note): EaE(ME)
2013 2012
2013%F 20124
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ AT X 701,378
us$ EP 332,444 134,517
EUR B 576,234 4,864
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the iz Pl SBEABEAEER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ BENGEEE AET B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of LB/ ELEE A
which the exchange exposure is not significant. RETTEE TR - B

I 48 S AOE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. @I A %)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) MR (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMmEpF(E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in AN - AINEEEHE 2 N ED
foreign currencies are as follows: NEEREHRINT -

2013 2012
2013%F 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Assets EE
uss$ ET 1,106,542 1,394,355
HK$ BT 350,624 233,601
RMB AR 49,508 48,366
Liabilities =R
uss$ ET 1,106,542 1,394,355
HK$ BT 472,324 385,308
Sensitivity analysis HWRE ST
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of NEE T EmEEIT R
EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB. T AMETEETEAR

BREBTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

136

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2012: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2012: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and derivative financial instruments and
adjusts their translation or fair value in the case of
the derivative financial instruments at the year
ended for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
On this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit where the functional currency of the
relevant group entities strengthens against the
foreign currencies by 5%, and vice versa.

31. M I A (#)
BHEREEENRBR

(ii)

HK$ BT
us$ ETT
EUR BT

No sensitivity analysis for foreign currency forward
contracts has been presented as for the year ended
31 December 2013.

(#)

R 1= AP

(a)

B b ()
BRRE DT ()

R EF AN B 1 4 i
FREBAIERT - HEE
BERZEEEEHE
HEEFINE EH R T BE5%
(20124 : 5% ) H) &R
J§ c 5% (20124 : 5%)
AHARTEEBEASRE
RN R\ B B BE PR B0 BURR
BhE  AEBEEINE
EXRMAIE e EE1EL
RS - BRERESTRE
FEASNE S BN R ENE
BIEB (BENINEEE
ZRIARER) RITE
SRTE  IRFRAXE
HBEX QA A BE(MAEDT
LR T R) - LARBRSN
BIERNS%EE o £ +
MEET - BABEEE
B EB K INEFAE
5% Bt EF 5 Em,
WA RZINA °

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit

RERFIEMORD)
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December EENRECII
2013 2012
BZ HE
201345 20124
12A31H L 12A31H 1k
FE 91E A
HK$'000 HK$’'000
TET FET
26,653 23,066
10,386 4,691
27,939 202

HZE20134128318 1k
ZHNERER A SR
MW ER27) o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from
bank balances are insignificant.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group entered into certain interest rate swaps
to partially hedge against its exposures to variable
interest rate of bank borrowings in prior years. The
Group considers that the interest rate of bank
borrowings is relatively stable and so no interest
rate swap was used to hedge the exposure to
interest rate risk in current year. The management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

31. EM I BE#)

(i) BERREEBNREE

(&)

EE1EAE )

(b)

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]

& E R
REERITHERIIES -
HRBRITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
K o AT - AEER
RZIRITHEBR IR AR
Bl - BYEIRITAERSIRE
MERBH LB S REN X
L TERX -

AEBNAAZEHTR
RITEENRESREN X
Rk - REREREN X
R E&E  NEBEE
BEFETLE TR
HARRITEENZER
BOETTRE D ¥ - AEE
RBRITIEEN N EIAY
RE @ FTAAESEARE A
) 2= 4 HY 3 0o ) R L g
EEEEANEAREER
LREERERHGERY TE
REVF @R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

138

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$10,959,109,000 (2012: HK$9,073,507,000), if
interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2013 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate of 3.5% (2012: 4.0%) would
decrease/increase by HK$28,142,000 (2012:
decrease/increase by HK$17,296,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

31 TEMTR#)
SRR EE R MR EK

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31. @M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the

Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is
considered minimal.

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group's involvement in the
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position
to monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan

to joint venture is low.

BGERER AR 2013 F£3R
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

140

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of

derivatives.

31. M I A (#)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 31. T A #®)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBREREERNREER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Liquidity tables MEE 2K
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year 1-5 years cash flows 2013
ESiE) 20135
BERfE  EERERD 38R RefE 124318
R SM{ER E 1254 BF ZEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL BT Ti#x Ti#gn TEL TEL
31 December 2013 2013%12A31A
Non-derivative financial #¥{T4¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ JEfE 5 )t
HinfRik 1,701,612 848,760 336,315 2,886,687 2,886,687
Amount due to a substantial fEf+ BRRRFE
shareholder 5,642 5,642 5,642
Amounts due torelated  FEFH B AIFUR
companies 12,306 12,306 12,306
Bank borrowings BITREE
- variable rate -38 . 2,168,013 1,057,026 2,480,094 5,559,213 11,264,346 10,959,109
3,887,573 1,905,786 2,816,409 5,559,213 14,168,981 13,863,744
Derivatives fTETR
- net settlement -RELE
Foreign exchange forward 9N iR EIA 4)
contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 31. T A#®)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TENE DK (&)

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2012
AR R2012F

BEEME EEREFS 3@A Reng 12A31H

nEFHE SMEA 1£2318A 215 1E56 At ZEEE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BOL THATL TAT TR TiEr Tign TAT

31 December 2012 20125128318
Non-derivative FTESRBAE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  fE{TE 5

H B - 1,701,271 676,197 372,641 — 2,750,109 2,750,109
Amount due to a BN EERRFE
substantial shareholder — 6,378 — — — 6,378 6,378
Amounts due to related  FEfTEAEARFA
companies — 143 — — — 143 143
Bank borrowings BAEE
- variable rate —%8 2.12 1,625,230 387,806 2,006,292 5,458,697 9,478,025 9,073,507

3,333,022 1,064,003 2,378,933 5,458,697 12,234,655 11,830,137

Derivatives fTETR
- net settlement -FELE
Foreign exchange forward  Sh iR HIA 4)
contracts — 219 211 131 — 561 561
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep)

1. EmIAE)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause B 75 ZE SR KRR 2 R IT
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” BERLEMIEBRADTEA
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 [EERERSIPMIERIZ
December 2013 and 2012, the aggregate undiscounted B o W20134F k2012 F
principal amounts and carrying amounts of these bank 12A318 - ZERTERZ
loans amounted to HK$2,024,701,000 and AFRAEREAELES
HK$1,506,456,000 respectively. Taking into account the Bl /& 2,024,701,000 # 7T &
Group's financial position, the directors do not believe 1,506,456,000/% 7T ° & & &I
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their RNEBZHBRR - EFHE
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. B RITFARAREITED |E
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid o BRAREEARENR -
after the reporting date in accordance with the following EHE - ZFRT 1ﬁ§¥|—r7§/\‘$
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan MEBBMzEREBEERBEM
agreements: HeEERBBERAT
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause B 75 B 22 SR B R 2 IRIT 1B
based on scheduled repayments: ERARTEENE -
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year cash flows amount
BBRR= 3188 RITHR
ELIH SMEAR 12318 A 215 BEREAT HREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARk T TR TR TR TR
Asat 31 December 2013 #2013%12/318 217 1,358,075 442,458 233977 2034510 2,024701
Asat31December 2012 #2012412A318 212 1471510 8,063 30274 1509847 1,506,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. @I A %)
(iii) Fair value (iii) D2 RE

Fair value measurements recognised in the R BIRR R BER L AR ER
statement of financial position 2
This note provides information about how the Group AT REAEEOFNEE T
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEEREREBEAAE
financial liabilities. ZER
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEEBRELEMEERSREA
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each ERESHEERRARBEE -
reporting period. The following table gives information TEREHONNWEETZSE M
about how the fair values of these financial assets and EEAEREBEAREMNER
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the (LEMFARARTERZ K
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). B) o

Fair value as at

Financial assets/ 31 December 2013  Fair value Valuation techniques

financial liabilities 720135128318  hierarchy and key inputs

EREE SRAE ZRARE A REHH REFXREEXE

Foreign currency forward contracts ~ Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as other derivative HK$12,733,000 B are estimated based on the
financial instruments on the BE— applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position 12,733,000 7T exchange rates.

HNEIR A KNI AR R DR RRITERIR @M E JE N E
REMITEESRTE NS R EAEE M E

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERANGEMBRERER

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost EERCRAGREHENAZ

in the consolidated financial statements approximate to R RHEEREEQALE -

their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) 1585 - ATETRFREEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHZRET 2/
netting arrangements and similar EERERARE
agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below include TEREBRBERAINITEFRE
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to HEZHIEUMREE N 2%
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar MEENZRAERB  LEX
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, ZEemIT A THERES
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group's ERAEEGZEE MBI ERY
consolidated statement of financial position. i o
Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master FHE  RIMTAFREEER
netting arrangements and similar agreements BEREUNUGHEE T 2 BEE
As at 31 December 2013 ®2013%12H31H

Gross amount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial

financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial DERGEHERRE
Gross amounts position position HHvEBSE
of recognised i) iy Cash collateral
financial assets ~ BEMRZR  MERRE Financial received Net
BRASH HECERER 2K2  instruments BhEe amount
Desctiption BE BEAE CRAENE SREETE  fTESRIA il FE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tax Tz Ti#x TAT TAT Tax
Bank balances RiTER 2,145 2,145 — - 2,145

Derivative ITEemEE
financial assets
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAL
forward contracts 12,733 12,733 12,733

Total At 14,878 14,878 14,878
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting arrangements and similar
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master

netting arrangements and similar agreements (Continued)

As at 31 December 2012

31. EM I BE#)

(iv) F8#E  THTRFEEE

ZHREMUBRET 2@
EEREBMAEHE

FHE - AIMTTRFEREE L
HRBUGFER N2 MEE
(&)

M2012%12H31H

Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised assets
financial liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof ~ statement of of financial position
financial financial TENGATBRAR
Gross amounts position position Yz EBeE
of recognised oty ity Cash collateral
financial assets BIIR BIBMAR Finandial received Net
BRRER  HE/EED Evd instruments BliBe amount
Description w2 BELE CHRERE SRAETE  (TERRIA B w8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TAT T THL TAT
Bank balances BiTtae 4,073 - 4,073 - - 4,073
Derivative financial {744 B4R
assets
-Foreigncurrency  —SMERERAH
forward contracts 5,084 — 5,084 (561) — 4,523
Total it 9,157 — 9,157 (561) - 8,59
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting arrangements and similar
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable

master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 31 December 2012

31. EM I BE#)

(iv) F8#E  THTRFEEE

ZHREMUBRET 2@
EEREBMAEHE

FHE - AIMTTRFEREE L
HREUGZER T ZEMAE

M2012%12H831H

Gross amount Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilities
assets presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
(Gross amounts financial financial TENARBRAR
of recognised position position HEZEELE
financial fiNGY=) NG Cash collateral
liabilities BIBRRR BIBMAR Financial received Net
BRRER HE/CER 2% instruments BlEs amount
Description BE BEEE SREELE SRARTE (HERIA BRG 8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AT TAL L AT
Derivative financial ~ $T44BER
liabilities
-Foreigncurency  —HMEREAH
forward contracts (561) - (561) 561 — -
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ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

32.

148

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,
which fall due as follows:

32. EEMEY

SEEREBA

RE|BER - NERERE A B
M REFREEHEONBEREN
W& EESOT

Within one year

In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EFRFNRN

2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
3,778 4,055
521 1,553
5,608

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For
leasehold lands, leases are negotiated for terms ranged from
one year to five years with fixed rentals. For office properties,
leases are negotiated for terms ranged from 6 months to 1 year
with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

Rental income of office spaces in the PRC during the year
ended 31 December 2013 was HK$1,994,000 (2012:
HK$1,426,000) from a related party, Jiangsu Chemical (see
note 35(i)). Leases are within one year.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2013 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A
=

BB AR MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

32.

33.

OPERATING LEASES (conTiNnuED) 32. REMN (#)
The Group as lessor (Continued) SEERAEBEAE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted EHREHRR AEBEHBLEET
with Jiangsu Chemical for the following future minimum lease REBREMNZERSA :
payments:
2013 2012
20135 20124
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Within one year —FR 1,940 1,892
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZERFR — 1,892
3,784
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BEAREIE
2013 2012
2013 20124F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Capital expenditures contracted for but 5 2 5T 4118 K A 4r & B 75 3 2% o
not provided in the consolidated HEEETHNEENEARY ¢
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:
— property, plant and equipment —WE  WEMERE 1,624,846 1,378,090
- land use rights — b AR 154,275 150,442
1,779,121 1,528,532

In addition, at 31 December 2013, the Group had a
commitment to provide an additional loan of HK$40,910,000
(2012: HK$60,410,000) to its joint venture. Details of loan
terms disclosed in note 18(ii).

o - B2013F 128318 - A%
E & & 45 T 5890 40,910,000 %8 T
(20124 : 60,410,000 7T) 2 ER
FTHAEEDME - BFERE N
18(ii) °
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION 34. BPERSF
For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's acquisition REZE2013F12A31HIEFE -
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer AEBEBEDE BELERE
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of 2 115,781,000 /& T ( 2012 £ :
HK$115,781,000 (2012: HK$98,452,000). 98,452,000 L) I BEF EH

ENFTEHEA -

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 35. HHENRBEEALIHEE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FRN - AEEEEBAT(ETAL
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be MERRE ETARBERIEARBE
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant AL)VEFTERRS - F/#RN - &
transactions with these parties during the year/period are as ZEATETHERRSOAT
follows:
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) rEEREEALIRS
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2013 2012
S Bz
2013F 20124
12A31H Lt 12A318 1k
Nature of FE 9fE A
Name of parties transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEATEE XHUE THT TAT
LMIML (as defined in note 21) Finished goods sold by the Group
BXEX£(EERME21) EEHERR S 53,716 68,917
Income from supply of steam and
electricity
REZERKRENZHA 3,434
Raw materials purchased by the
Group
SEBERM 703
Other materials purchased by the
Group
SEBEAMH 14,947 —
Lee & Man Paper Products Limited (note) ~ Licence fee expensesincurred by
B mBRAR () the Group
SEFAREX 1,328
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 35. HHEANREBEEALIRE#)
DISCLOSURES (continueD)
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HBERBEALRZ(#E)
(Continued)
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2013 2012
Bz BZE
2013% 20126
12A31H1E 12A3181E
Nature of FE 9f& A
Name of parties transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
BEATEE REME THET TET
Jiangsu Chemical (as defined in note 21)  Income from supply of steam and
TEME T (E5E RMEE21) electricity
REEZERENZBA 76,667 54,948
Raw materials purchased by the
Group
SEEERM 3,398
Rental income
HeBA 1,426
Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited Electricity and steam fee paid by
IR ITHERAA the Group
SEENBERARREE —
Nippon Paper (as defined in note 21) Technical assistance fee expenses 11,299
AARBUR (EE R HTE21) by the Group
SERMBEREX L
note: The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr Li M ZARAARRAESTERZE
King Wai Ross (a director of the Company) who is also a daughter BIRARKIERRRTBERTE
of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder ZRAEEEERS
of the Company.
(ii) Related and connected party balances (i) rEEARBEE A T4
Details of the Group's outstanding balances with related REFEBEALTREITAHE
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in BEATZREREHRFBEDH
the consolidated statement of financial position and note TRER & BBk & R &

21. 21
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

35.

152

RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
DISCLOSURES (conminuep)

(iii) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remunerations of the directors and other members of

key management during the year/period were as follows:

35. HHEEARBEALHEE &)

(iii) TEEEEREHMH

EEhHEMTBEEEERER
F/AHRRZBEMT

Nine months
Year ended ended
ERNV LYY T 31 December
2013 2012

BZE H=E

2013%F 20124
128318 1t RPEEEIR=NS
FE 9fE A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET

Short-term benefits ySREER]
Post-employment benefits RINEF

13,315 9,199
15 1

9,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHRRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 Z ZF20134€ 124318 1L F/Z

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. RABREEMEB R AFE

OF THE COMPANY

KRB EEMEBARNR2013F K
201212 A31AMEBHT ¢

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid

establishment/ registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary ERAL/RY/ BRTRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
HEARER BEREELY EMER ARRRERERARL TERH
Directly Indirectly
23 G5
2012
20126
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin lslands (notei) Ordinary shares-US$4 = Investmentholding
RERTER () Lak-4En RERR
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virginslands (notei) Ordinary share - US$1 100%  Investment holding
EERRES (M) EER-1ET RERK
Vantage Dragon Limited HongKong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100%  Investmentholding
HMEARAR B LRk-281 RERR
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore)  Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Trading Limited el 1BP9%100,0007 materials
HE(EPREREERR EHBRAA RERH
REBCEARARAA(RTEL])  PRC(notei) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper LEIRD) - US$156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co Ltd) HRER FAEERES
("Dongguan Lee & Man") —156,480,000% T
BRECEABRAG(EREN])  PRC(notei) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper P (PieHil) - US$680,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HhER RALERES
(“Guangdong Lee & Man”) —680,000,000%7T
TEECEABRAA (TEEN])  PRC(notei) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper LEIRD) -US$393,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) AT RELERES
("Jiangsu Lee & Man”) —393,000,000% ¢
SRECEAERAT ([ZEEX])  PRC(notei) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongaing Lee & Man Paper R (FisEil) -US$420,260,000 trading of paper and
Manufacturing Limited) HER pulp
("Chongging Lee & Man") —420,260,000%7T FERAEEERES
IEEEABRAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangxi Lee & Man Paper LEIRD) -US$100,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) HEx FELERES
~100,000,00057C
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$64,478,874 100%  Manufacturingand
Manufacturing Limited i 64,478 8T45TT trading of paper
FELERES

BERAR AR 2013 F£3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2013 # Z2013F 12 H31HIFFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. XABEEMBRARFSE &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTINUED)

notes: B EE

(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENREEBEE -

(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) RERAREPBKNILZIEREDR
PRC. ER

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINHBESFRRARETEFERE

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or EXENEERAENAR T NS

assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NE-FEFRR JIHEMHER

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in ANEFBEEAMNEFARILE -

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERIFAEMKERE SHEBERQ
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. AMEEARERENEBES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

R B B B AR AR

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company as at AN AR 2013 % 2012F12 318 28
31 December 2013 and 2012 is as follows: BARREBENT

2013 2012

20135 20124

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THET

Investments in subsidiaries B A FEE 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU I B A 7 B 7,382,181 8,540,180
Bank balances RITEERR 3,098 497

Total assets BEHEE 8,023,256 9,178,654

Amount due to a subsidiary MEEHBMIA = 50,716
Other payables JE A5 L At BR 3R 4,256 240,112
Unsecured bank borrowings IR IRIRITIEE 2,783,238 3,454,096

Total liabilities BERE 2,787,494 3,744,924

5,235,762 5,433,730

Share capital R& 2 117,402 117,241
Reserves EE 5,118,360 5,316,489

Total equity farEn 5,235,762 5,433,730
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RN TF BB E ()

note: (T
(i) Movement in reserves (i) fHEEE
Share
Share options  Contributed Retained Total
premium reserve surplus profits equity
RIVEE BRERE BHEH BEFEF EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2012 2012F481H 4,624,592 35,450 634,977 97,216 5,392,235
Profit for the period HRNEF] — — — 402,595 402,595
Dividends recognised as distributions BRADKZKE — — — (478,341) (478,341)
At 31 December 2012 2012412 A31H 4,624,592 35,450 634,977 21,470 5,316,489
Exercise of share option 1Tt E 158,583 (35,450) — — 123,133
Shares repurchased and cancelled [P el et iH (307,763) — — - (307,763)
Profit for the year FERF — — 564,697 564,697
Dividends recognised as distributions RADRZRE — — — (578,196) (578,196)
At 31 December 2013 2013412 A31H 4,475,412 — 634,977 7,971 5,118,360

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference AR A Z EHMARTI AR FHEE200349
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries AZEBEEMAMKRBEZHNBARZETE
acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in 23 {8 #8888 K 22 Bt 5% W8 T 3517 2 B
September 2003 and the nominal value of the Company's shares ~ ANEIEZ Z& °

issued for the acquisition.
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